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KEY FIGURES

1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018 Change

Consolidated revenues 1, 2 in € millions 1,683.9 1,492.5 13%

Consolidated revenues (annualized) 1, 2 in € millions 3,536.1 3,419.6 3%

EBITDA 1, 2 in € millions 30.5 10.4 > 100%

Consolidated profit/loss 1, 3 in € millions -51.0 -21.0 > -100%

Earnings per share

basic 1, 2 in EUR -2.14 -0.90 > -100%

diluted 1, 2 in EUR -1.95 -0.75 > -100%

Cash flows from operating activities 1 in € millions -33.3 -58.9 43%

Cash flows from investing activities 1 in € millions -54.0 -87.1 38%

Free cash flow 1 in € millions -87.3 -146.0 40%

6/30/2019 12/31/2018 Change

Assets in € millions 2,529.4 2,148.5 18%

of which cash and cash equivalents in € millions 179.6 290.8 -38%

Liabilities in € millions 2,048.5 1,612.3 27%

of which financial liabilities in € millions 455.2 480.6 -5%

Equity 3 in € millions 481.0 536.2 -10%

Equity ratio 3 in % 18.6 25.0 -26%

Employees at the reporting date 2 13,304 15,131 -27%
1  The prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of cash flows were adjusted for 

 c omparison purposes according to the provisions set forth under IFRS 5.
2  From continued operations.
3 Including non-controlling interests.
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L E T T E R  TO  T H E  S H A R E H O L D E R S

LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Dear shareholders, employees, and friends of AURELIUS,

The highlight of the first half of 2019 was the biggest company sale in the history of AURELIUS. After tough and 
intensive negotiations, we finally announced the successful sale of our subsidiary SOLIDUS for an enterprise 
value of EUR 330 million in late June . This was the price for which one of today’s leading European producers of 
sustainable packaging solutions changed owners. The buyer is Centerbridge, a prestigious private equity fund. 
In only four years, AURELIUS succeeded in transforming the former spin-off from the Smurfit Kappa Group from 
a problem child to the independent company SOLIDUS. The capital we invested in this company has increased 
by a factor of around 16. Consequently, we will post roughly EUR 100 million as a positive earnings effect in the 
2019 financial year. In addition to the base dividend of EUR 1.50 per share, our shareholders were rewarded with 
a participation dividend of EUR 1.50 per share, corresponding to a total dividend payout of EUR 44.5 million for 
the participation dividend. 

The remaining Group companies also exhibited a positive development in the past six months, for the most 
part. The operating EBITDA of the overall group rose to EUR 102.6 million from the first half of 2019. Above all, 
HanseYachts, the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group and Calumet Wex made important contributions to this 
 positive performance. We expect consistently good business performance in the second half of 2019. The 
 management is in contact with numerous prospective buyers. Some of these talks have already reached an 
advanced stage; this too is a sign of the increasing maturity of our portfolio. We are also very busy with respect 
to acquisitions of both platform investments and add-on acquisitions at the level of our subsidiaries. General 
economic conditions should continue to favor such acquisitions. Macroeconomic upheaval is good for our 
 business. And the monetary policy of central banks remains expansive, with low interest rates.

Early August we announced the acquisition of BT Fleet Solutions, headquartered in Solihull, UK, from BT Group 
Plc. BT Fleet Solutions is the industry leading end-to-end commercial fleet management operator. The company 
offers a comprehensive suite of fleet management services across all stages of the vehicle life cycle, through its 
network of 65 in-house garages, 500 partner facilities and 50+ mobile technicians.

We wish to thank you here for your interest and support. We thank our longtime shareholders for their steadfast 
trust. And we promise our new shareholders that we will continue to work hard and smart for our common cause. 
Finally, we wish to thank our employees for our success. Their commitment and expertise are the reason for and 
guarantor of the success of the AURELIUS Group.
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L E T T E R  TO  T H E  S H A R E H O L D E R S

Sincerely yours,

The Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE,  
personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA

Munich, August 2019

 

Dr. Dirk Markus Gert Purkert Steffen Schiefer

Fritz Seemann Matthias Täubl
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NET ASSET VALUE OF GROUP UNITS

NAV at June 30, 2019  
(in € millions)

Industrial Production 485.6

Retail & Consumer Products 509.6

Services & Solutions 146.6

NAV of the portfolio companies 1,141.8

Other 239.8

Total 1,381.6

The valuation was carried out using a discounted cash flow model based on the budgets of the Group compa-
nies approved by the Supervisory Board for the next three years (2019 to 2021). 

The budgets were prepared at the level of the Group’s portfolio companies in the period from August to Octo-
ber 2018 (bottom-up planning) and coordinated with Controlling at headquarters. The budgets each include 
plans for income and expenses as well as balance sheet planning. When assessing the corporate planning, it 
must be taken into account that some of the group companies are still undergoing major transitions and the 
financial forecasts of these subsidiaries are, as a rule, fraught with greater uncertainty. 

The growth rates assumed for the period following this detailed planning period have been set uniformly at a 
conservative 0.5 percent. The underlying discount rates WACC ranging from 4.87 to 11.58 percent as of June 30, 
2019, were calculated on the basis of individual peer groups. Where appropriate, risk premiums were added to 
the capital costs in accordance with the respective restructuring phase. The peer groups were determined as 
part of corporate group’s initial consolidation and supported by data from Capital IQ, an IT platform of the 
rating agency Standard & Poor’s, and audited in connection with the initial consolidation. The inputs (for ex-
ample, beta or the debt ratio) of the individual peer groups, as well as the additional data (e.g. government 
bonds) for determination of the WACCs, are likewise queried via Capital IQ. As a rule, the peer groups remain 
unchanged during the period in which the entity belongs to AURELIUS. 

The stock exchange-listed subsidiary HanseYachts AG was valued based on its proportional market capitaliza-
tion as of the reporting date of June 30, 2019. 

The carrying amount applied for the Other segment is determined simply based on the position of cash and 
cash equivalents of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the individual holding companies that 
were not yet included in the NAV calculations of the portfolio companies. The treasury shares of AURELIUS 
 Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and a brand company valued using a discounted cash flow model are also 
applied. In addition, loan receivables, which are presented as deductions in the NAV of the portfolio companies, 
are adjusted. The nominal amount of the issued convertible bond is likewise deducted. 

If a Group company of AURELIUS has been newly acquired and has therefore belonged to the group for less than 
six months, only the respective purchase prices are included in the NAV calculation, as the complete budget 
process has not yet been implemented, nor are stand-alone budgets prepared by the new subsidiary yet avail-
able within the brief period in which it has belonged to the Group.

N E T  A S S E T  VA L U E
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G R O U P  I N T E R I M  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

GROUP INTERIM MANAGEMENT REPORT OF  
AURELIUS EQUITY OPPORTUNITIES SE & CO. KGaA

Reports from the Group companies

The following comments reflect the developments of the individual corporate groups (subsidiaries) that are fully 
consolidated within the AURELIUS Group. At June 30, 2019, the AURELIUS Group comprised a total of 20 operating 
groups attributable to the continuing operations of AURELIUS:

Corporate Group Sector Segment Affiliation Head Office

HanseYachts Manufacturer of sailing yachts 
and catamarans

Industrial Production Greifswald, Germany

CalaChem Producer of fine chemicals Industrial Production Grangemouth, UK
Briar Chemicals Producer of specialty chemicals Industrial Production Norwich, UK
 Hammerl Manufacturer of construction films 

and consumables
Industrial Production Gemmrigheim, Germany

VAG Supplier of water valves for water 
infrastructure

Industrial Production Mannheim, Germany

GHOTEL Group Hotel chain Services & Solutions Bonn, Germany
LD Didactic Provider of technical teaching 

 systems
Services & Solutions Hürth,Germany

AKAD University Distance learning university Services & Solutions Stuttgart, Germany
B+P Gerüstbau Scaffold building and construction 

site services
Services & Solutions Berlin, Germany

Transform/ 
The Hospital Group

Provider of surgical and non-surgical 
cosmetic procedures

Services & Solutions Manchester, UK

Scholl Footwear Supplier of orthopedic and 
 comfort shoes

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Milan, Italy

MEZ Provider of hand-crafted products Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Herbolzheim, Germany

Conaxess Trade  Group Distributor of fast moving consumer 
goods

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Avedore, Denmark

Scandinavian 
 Cosmetics  Group

Distributor of high-quality cosmetics 
and perfumes

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Malmö, Sweden

Calumet Wex Multi-channel retailer for photo-
graphy equipment and manufacturer 
of professional lighting systems

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Hamburg, Germany

Office Depot Europe Provider of office supplies, printing 
and document services as well as 
 facility management and office 
furniture

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Venlo, Netherlands

Silvan Leading `Do-It-Yourself retail´ chain Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Aarhus, Denmark

Bertram Books Globally active multi-channel book-
seller

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Norwich, UK

Ideal Shopping Direct Multi-channel home shopping provider Retail & Consumer 
Products

Peterborough, UK

NDS Group  
(formerly Hellanor)

Wholesaler of automotive parts Retail & Consumer 
Products

Hagan, Norway
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In total, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA has included 314 subsidiaries in its consolidated financial 
statements. Immaterial equity interests and associates are accounted for as financial instruments in accordance 
with IFRS 9 and IAS 28. 

No new corporate groups were acquired in the first half of 2019. The following corporate groups were sold: 

Working Links was removed from the consolidation group of AURELIUS in February 2019. In a transition process 
that had been coordinated with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) in advance, the business of providing social and 
 reintegration services for the British authorities (so-called CRCs, Community Rehabilitation Companies) was 
transferred to the service provider Seetec, based in Hockley (United Kingdom).

In early April 2019, AURELIUS sold its subsidiary Granovit, which is headquartered in Lucens (Switzerland), to a 
management team headed up by CEO Andreas Fischer in a management buy-out. AURELIUS had acquired the 
company from Cargill in 2017. 

AURELIUS sold its subsidiary SOLIDUS to private equity funds advised by Centerbridge Partners L.P. in late June 
2019. SOLIDUS is the leading European producer of sustainable packaging solutions made from solid board on the 
basis of recycled paper for food, beverages and gardening products, as well as consumer goods and industrial 
applications. The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2019. 

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8, the individual corporate groups are assigned to the operating 
 segments of Industrial Production, Services & Solutions and Retail & Consumer Products for the purposes of the 
segment report (see also Note 4 of the Selected notes to the financial statements).
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SEGMENT INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION (IP)

Revenues from continued operations in the Industrial Production segment amounted to EUR 250.7 million in 
the first half of 2019, reflecting an increase of 45 percent over the year-ago figure (H1 2018: EUR 173.1 million). The 
revenue increase resulted particularly from the VAG corporate group, which was acquired in November 2018 
and completely included in the segment results for the first time in 2019. Granovit, the Swiss supplier and pro-
ducer of animal feed, was sold in the first half of 2019. 

Segment earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 4.1 million 
(H1 2018: EUR 15.9 million). Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) came to minus EUR 7.0 million 
(H1  2018: EUR 9.5 million). Cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2019 amounted to EUR 30.5 million, after 
EUR 40.1 million at the end of 2018.

HANSEYACHTS

Company
HanseYachts, which has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2011, is the world’s second-largest series manufac-
turer of sailing yachts. In addition to its Hanse core brand, the company also offers the long-established brands 
Dehler, Moody and Varianta, as well as the motorboat brand Fjord. The company began manufacturing and 
 distributing motorboats of the Sealine brand in the spring of 2014. Across all brands, the product offering now 
comprises 40 different models of sailing and motor yachts. It exports about 80 percent of its products and 
 controls a market share of more than 30 percent in the core countries of Northern Europe and Australia. 
The  HanseYachts share is listed in the General Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (ISIN: 
DE000A0KF6M8).

Structure and organization
HanseYachts AG is the parent company of the HanseYachts Group. It performs central holding company func-
tions and manages most of the group’s operating activities. The management team is composed of a CEO and 
a CFO. Research and development and the central marketing coordination of HanseYachts AG are performed in 
the favorably located site in Greifswald, with access to the Baltic Sea. Central procurement, overall sales 
 management and administration are also performed there. Another production site is located about 170 km 
from there in Goleniów, Poland. The catamarans of the Privilège brand are produced directly on the Atlantic 
coast in Les Sables-d’Olonne, France, about 1,600 km from Greifswald. Independent group sales companies are 
 located in Germany and the United States. The company’s products are sold worldwide by a network of roughly 
250 dealers in more than 100 countries.

Market environment
The worldwide sailing and motor yacht market is subject to intense competition. There are many yacht manufac-
turers that produce single-digit to double-digit unit quantities per year. On the other hand, there are only few 
market participants in the industrial world that produce triple-digit quantities of yachts per year, like HanseYachts. 
The sailing and motor yacht market continues to undergo considerable consolidation and the market environ-
ment is still challenging. 
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Since May 2017, HanseYachts has operated in a new water sports segment with the catamarans of the Privilège 
brand. After AURELIUS, as the parent company of HanseYachts, acquired a majority interest in Privilège Marine 
SAS, Privilège sailing and motor catamarans have been sold through the HanseYachts dealer network with the aid 
of a sales cooperation agreement. HanseYachts acquired all of Privilège from AURELIUS in June 2019.

Current developments
The global maritime market for HanseYachts AG continues to grow at a modest pace, although the situation var-
ies depending on the brand. In particular, the market for the Fjord brand continues to grow, although competition 
in this segment has also increased considerably. HanseYachts AG generates the strongest unit sales in Germany, 
Spain, France, Italy and England. Sales have been especially positive in Greece. 

Thanks to intensive sales activities coupled with innovations and product maintenance, HanseYachts generated 
revenue growth of around ten percent in the 2018/19 financial year. This revenue growth was particularly driven 
by sales of the Fjord and Sealine brands motor yachts in the European region.

HanseYachts accommodates its customers’ demands for individuality and variant diversity by means of 
 continuous investments in the development of new yachts and a constantly updated product range. Thanks to 
near- series production and a modular design that allows for cost-efficient variant diversity, and with its clearly 
 positioned brands, the company will be able to position itself successfully in the market over the long term. The 
steady revenue growth of the last seven years attests to the success of the strategy and products of 
HanseYachts.

The market activities of HanseYachts mainly include regular participation in national and international trade fairs 
such as those in Düsseldorf, Cannes, Palma de Mallorca, Miami, Annapolis and Sydney. In total, the company is 
represented directly or by dealers in approximately 75 trade fairs in 27 countries.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The company’s products are luxury goods, the demand for which is mainly dependent on the economic situation 
of individual customers, but therefore also indirectly on the macroeconomic situation in the different markets. 
Thus, changed macroeconomic conditions in key sales markets can influence the demand for the company’s prod-
ucts, despite the broad regional diversification of the international dealer network. 

Comparable products marketed aggressively by competitors on the basis of price pose a general sales risk. The 
company counters this risk particularly with short development cycles and innovative products, but partially also 
with price discounts or improved features. Furthermore, the expansion of the product range, especially in the 
segment of motorboats and catamarans, enables the company to target a wider group of customers and sell its 
products in additional regions. 

In accordance with the seasonal nature of the company’s business, the company generates a negative result in 
the first half of the financial year (July 1 to December 31) and the main profit contributions in the second half of the 
financial year (January 1 to June 30).

Outlook
Based on the further growth of sales network, the increased financial commitment to motor yachts, the 
 addition of catamarans to the product line-up, ongoing product innovations and the positive response of 
customers, HanseYachts is well positioned in the water sports market. 

After the renewed revenue increase in the 2018/19 financial year for the seventh year in a row and in view of 
the acquisition of Privilège Marine SAS at the end of the financial year, HanseYachts expects to continue its 
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revenue growth in the coming 2019/20 financial year. Most of the revenues will be generated on sales of 
 sailing yachts, as before. HanseYachts also expects a further absolute improvement in its operating earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA). Initial losses from the acquisition of Privilège 
Marine SAS will be a countervailing factor. In total, HanseYachts again expects to generate a positive full-year 
result of an amount in the single-digit millions. 

CALACHEM

Company
CalaChem is a producer of fine chemicals focusing on agrochemicals and specialty chemicals. Besides producing 
fine chemicals, the company also operates an Industrial Services business unit. This unit provides a range of ser-
vices to the adjacent Earls Gate industrial estate, including the treatment of industrial wastewater, the provision 
of process steam, and the supply of electricity. CalaChem has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2010.

Structure and organization
The company has its headquarters and sole production facility in Grangemouth (Scotland). It operates in two 
segments: contract production of fine chemicals and the provision of industrial services. The management team 
is composed of two persons, a CEO and a CFO.

Market environment
CalaChem operates in the market for outsourced agrochemical production, which is estimated at roughly USD 
7 billion. There is a growing trend toward outsourcing chemical contract production because this enables 
 customers to lower their capital expenditures, work with a more flexible base of suppliers, and free up their 
own capacities for new products. A major factor affecting the market are the lower production capacities of 
manufacturers in China due to stricter environmental regulations. This development has also had a positive 
impact on CalaChem. The company has already fielded a number of inquiries related directly to the delivery 
problems of Chinese suppliers.  

Current developments
CalaChem’s revenues in the first half of the year were below the planned amount because the commencement of 
some production processes was delayed.

Significant factors affecting business performance
CalaChem benefits from the heightened focus of customers on delivery reliability and stricter environmental 
protection regulations, for which reason they are now turning to Western suppliers as an alternative to Chinese 
suppliers. The company still faces higher expenses related to the sale of its pension fund. This sale should be 
 completed in 2019. The planned thermal power station in Earls Gate Park is currently under construction. Owned 
by a third party, it represents a long-term plannable energy source for CalaChem.

Outlook
The outlook for CalaChem in the 2019 financial year is still positive and the company expects that it will be able 
to meet its financial targets. Construction of a new thermal and hydroelectric power station that will ensure a 
long-term supply of energy commenced last year. In the event of a hard Brexit, the company would possibly have 
to contend with disadvantages in the form of import duties and delays in imports to the United Kingdom.
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BRIAR CHEMICALS

Company
Briar Chemicals is an independent contract manufacturer and producer of agrochemicals and fine chemicals. The 
company produces mainly chemical agents and intermediates for herbicides. The location was acquired by Bayer 
CropScience in 2012.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Norwich (United Kingdom), the company operates a production facility there and produces 
different fine chemicals in various plants. The management team is composed of a CEO and a CFO.

Market environment
Briar Chemicals operates in the market for outsourced agrochemicals production, the volume of which is 
 estimated at around USD 7 billion. There is a growing trend toward outsourcing chemical contract production 
 because this enables customers to lower their capital expenditures, work with a more flexible base of suppliers, 
and free up their own capacities for new products. A major factor affecting the market are the lower produc-
tion capacities of manufacturers in China due to stricter environmental regulations. This development has also 
had a positive impact on Briar Chemicals. The company has already fielded a number of inquiries and made 
deliveries related to the reduced delivery capabilities of Chinese manufacturers.

Current developments
Revenues were slightly below plan in the first half of 2019 due to the unplanned shutdown of two production 
 facilities. The design of these facilities was optimized and the security systems were extended considerably after 
a work accident in mid-2018.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The company is dealing with peak demand and production bottlenecks in the current 2019. The demand for 
 certain key products has risen substantially after some Chinese suppliers stopped making them.  

Outlook
2019 is turning out to be a turbulent year for the company as it deals with the effects of production losses and 
the scarcity of skilled workers. The outlook for the company after this period is very positive, also in view of the 
supply bottlenecks and production losses of Chinese suppliers. However, a hard Brexit could possibly create 
disadvantages for the company in the form of customs duties and delays in imports to the United Kingdom.
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HAMMERL

Company
Hammerl manufactures construction films, dimpled sheet membranes and vapor barrier films. The value chain 
encompasses the in-house production of regranulates made from purchased plastic waste from the dual 
 system of waste collection and from industrial waste. Due to the sustainability of its production processes, the 
company regards itself as a potential catalyst for waste avoidance and a cleaner environment. 

Structure and organization 
The company’s headquarters is located in Gemmrigheim in Baden-Württemberg. The company is managed by 
a managing director.

Market environment
The German construction industry encountered positive conditions in 2018 and posted growth of about six 
percent above the previous year. Construction prices rose by 4.5 percent. The German construction industry 
expects a similarly positive development in 2019. 

Current developments 
The revenues generated in the first half of 2019 were somewhat lower than in the first half of 2018, due to price 
discounts allowed as a result of the competition situation. Overall, there was a shift toward higher-quality prod-
ucts with higher prices, which nearly offset the decline of unit sales on standardized products. The company 
 expects to generate earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) at around the level of 
the previous year.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The company’s business is considerably influenced by the purchasing prices for plastic raw materials. Price in-
creases and discounts for plastic base materials can normally be passed on to customers and therefore influence 
the company’s revenues. The development of prices for regranulates is particularly dependent on the situation in 
the Far East. For example, an import freeze for packaging waste in China led to an excess supply of plastic waste 
in Europe. At the same time, however, processed regranulate is in demand in China to supply the industry there. In 
this way, sudden changes in basic conditions can lead to wider price fluctuations. Another key factor is energy 
prices, which vary widely from one country to another and are subject to relatively wide fluctuations.

Outlook
It can be expected that competition pressure will remain high on both the national and international levels. 
The company continues to encounter strong margin pressure, which it is counteracting by means of automa-
tion, particularly in the removal of rolls from the machines and packaging, as well as targeted investments in 
energy savings.

Continuous improvements in material efficiency and business processes coupled with strict cost discipline will 
ensure the continued stability of the company’s financial position, cash flows and financial performance and 
contribute to profitable growth.

The company has tapped new, higher-margin business areas apart from the construction industry with its 
 existing product portfolio, which will contribute to the stabilization and even improvement of profit margins 
overall. 
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The basic environment of the construction industry is still very positive. The renovation of existing properties 
and the construction of new properties are proceeding at a fast pace, given that these are permanently safe 
investments. The German National Construction Industry Association expects total revenues of approximately 
EUR 350 billion in 2019, which would represent an increase of 4.2 percent. This growth will be very much driven 
by prices, particularly higher prices for wages and materials. 

VAG

Company
VAG is one of the leading suppliers of valves for water treatment and distribution, wastewater systems, dams, 
power plants and the energy sector. It has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since November 2018. VAG is known 
throughout the world for its market-leading expertise in product development. The company is active both in the 
global project business and in the production and distribution of standard applications. 

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Mannheim, VAG is managed by four managing directors. It has six production locations in 
Germany, the Czech Republic, China, India, South Africa and the United States, as well as 14 own sales offices 
exporting to more than 100 countries. 

As a globally active company, fulfilling a diverse range of regulatory requirements is critically important for 
VAG. For this reason, the company has introduced robust processes that make it possible to mitigate the risks 
involved with a worldwide business and so ensure the company’s long-term success.

The five key fields of these processes are management responsibility, standards and controlling, risk manage-
ment, training and communication, and supervisory responsibility.

Market environment
The most important markets for VAG are Europe (especially the German market), as well as China, North America 
and the Middle East. The strategic goal of VAG is sustainable, profitable growth especially in these markets. 
Competitors from low-wage countries are increasingly pushing into markets that have previously been domi-
nated by established suppliers, leading to growing competition pressure.  

Current developments
A number of restructuring measures have been defined and initiated since the acquisition by AURELIUS in 
 November 2018. In the last few years, customer satisfaction has suffered as a result of various operational 
problems, for which reason one of the priorities of the new management team is to pursue programs to im-
prove the fundamental service quality of VAG. In addition, the management intends to improve production 
resources, procurement logistics, internal processes and IT in order to enhance the company’s efficiency, 
 competitiveness and sustainability.

In addition to the restructuring, the company is moving forward with the separation of the standard business 
from the custom-engineered business. At the present time, both these units are combined within a single 
 organization, meaning that the much different requirements cannot be adequately fulfilled.
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The year 2019 began much better than expected; in particular, VAG’s principal markets of Europa and China are 
performing well, as is the Middle East, where several important new projects have been acquired. 

Outlook
The company expects continued good growth in the current year, albeit at a somewhat slower pace than at 
the  start of the year. Above-plan revenues, profit and back orders are expected. The initiated restructuring 
measures should begin to yield positive effects already in 2019, but mainly also in the subsequent years.
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SEGMENT SERVICES & SOLUTIONS (S&S)

Revenues from continued operations in the Services & Solutions segment rose by six percent to EUR 86.3 million 
in the first half of 2019 (H1 2018: EUR 81.8 million). Working Links was removed from the consolidation group of 
AURELIUS in February 2019. In a transition process that had been coordinated with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) 
in advance, the business of providing social and reintegration services for the British authorities (so-called CRCs, 
Community Rehabilitation Companies) was transferred to the service provider Seetec, based in Hockley (United 
Kingdom). 

The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of the Services & Solutions segment 
amounted to EUR 10.1 million (H1 2018: EUR 6.8 million). Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) came 
to minus EUR 1.0 million (H1 2018: EUR 3.0 million). Cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2019 amounted to EUR 
10.3 million, after EUR 12.3 million at the end of 2018.

GHOTEL GROUP

Company
The GHOTEL Group is a fast-growing hotel and apartment block chain in the 3-star to 4-star segment. It currently 
operates 14 hotels under different brands and two apartment houses throughout Germany and in Salzburg 
(Austria). The hotels are operated under the brands GHOTEL hotel & living and nestor Hotels, as well as the brands 
of the franchise partners InterContinental Hotels Group and AccorHotels (beginning in 2020). The company has 
belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2006. 

Structure and organization
The administrative headquarters of the GHOTEL Group is located in Bonn. It is managed by three managing 
 directors. As a hotel operator, the company maintains the typical operating processes for operating hotels. In 
addition, the Group has centralized departments for sales and marketing, procurement, finance and business 
development.

Market environment
Germany is still an attractive travel destination for vacations, conferences and congresses, with an internationally 
good price-quality ratio. According to the German Federal Statistical Office, the number of overnight stays rose by 
four percent year-over-year in the period from January to April 2019. The number of foreign guest overnight stays 
increased by three percent, that of domestic guest overnight stays by four percent. According to a survey by the 
German Hotel and Restaurant Association (DEHOGA), the challenges faced by the hotel industry include the 
 scarcity of skilled workers, increasing operating and personnel expenses, and stricter data protection regulations. 

Current developments
The GHOTEL Group continued to expand its business in the first half of 2019. The company’s expansion continued 
with the signing of an agreement for a new hotel in Dortmund (planned opening in 2022) and the opening of 
a Holiday Inn in Osnabrück (158 rooms). The GHOTEL Group was successful overall in the first half of the 2019 
 financial year. Revenues increased substantially over the first half of 2018.
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Significant factors affecting business performance 
The hotel industry in general and also the GHOTEL Group benefited from brisk demand from company events, 
trade fairs and city tourism in the first half of 2019. Wider fluctuations during the year were encountered at cer-
tain locations due to trade fairs, for example. GHOTEL hotel & living is positioned in the market as a 3-star product 
(superior) and nestor is positioned in the 4-star segment. The operating concepts represented by the franchise 
products Holiday Inn and Holiday Inn Express complement the company’s proprietary brands.  

Outlook
The GHOTEL Group anticipates a continuation of the overall market growth trend in the second half of 2019. 
 Location-specific changes in the competition situation will result from planned new hotel openings. Thus, the 
opening of the GHOTEL hotel & living Bochum (162 rooms) is planned for August, and a hotel complex consisting 
of an ibis Styles and an ibis budget will open in Bayreuth at the turn of the year. All these projects involve newly 
built hotels. Also in view of the new locations, the GHOTEL Group expects to increase its revenues further in the 
second half of 2019. 

LD DIDACTIC

Company
LD Didactic is a leading provider of technical teaching systems for schools and vocational training. The group 
 offers complete solutions for general education in science and vocational training in technology, engineering and 
science.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Hürth, LD Didactic has two production facilities in Germany and one in Cegléd (Hungary). In 
addition, LD Didactic maintains two local sales offices in Latin America and the United Kingdom.

The management team of LD Didactic is divided into the two areas of sales and operations. In addition to sales 
itself, the Sales and Marketing Director is also responsible for marketing and communication. The Operations 
 Director is responsible for the operating units of Project Execution, Production Logistics, Procurement, IT and 
Production at the factory locations in Urbach, Cegléd and Hürth, as well as Development and Product Manage-
ment. The two directors bear joint responsibility for Finance, Controlling and Human Resources.

Market environment
The worldwide market for vocational training and continuing education continues to grow, driven by continu-
ous population growth and the strong demand for well-skilled workers in emerging-market countries and 
 companies operating in the areas affected by the German industrial modernization initiative Industry 4.0. 
These trends have created strong demand for second-chance education and continuing education programs 
for working professionals. 

Furthermore, the growing trend of digitalization necessitates modern technical training equipment and new 
curricula. Government budget cuts due to weaker economic conditions (due to low crude oil prices in the case 
of Saudi Arabia, for example) or political reasons (as in the case of Russia and some Middle East countries, for 
example) can have a negative impact on new orders for larger projects, in particular. 
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Current developments
LD Didactic began the year with a solid order backlog from the 2018 end-of-year season and a normal order 
 intake in the first half of 2019. The company continues to focus on strengthening export sales, further develop-
ing refining its digital solutions and reducing complexity in its product portfolio. To address the fluctuating 
order intake and reduce fixed costs to an appropriate level, LD Didactic also reapportioned some of production 
operations within its network of factories as part of a restructuring project. This process will be completed by 
the middle of 2019. In the export business, the company continues to focus on strengthening its global dealer 
network, advancing the sales integration of all product portfolio brands and pursuing active dealer management. 
Unit sales in Germany were weaker than expected in the early part of the year particularly because tenders were 
delayed. A catch-up effect is anticipated in the second half of the year. By contrast, the development of large-
scale export projects in particular has been positive, with the company booking significant new orders in this 
business in the first half of 2019. Based on the well-filled pipeline, additional large project orders are  expected 
in the second half of 2019. The company expects to meet the planned revenue and earnings targets for 2019.

Significant factors affecting business performance  
LD Didactic generates income both from its regular baseline business and from its irregular large project business. 
Together, these two business lines normally ensure stable income and growth potential. Significant new project 
orders have already been booked in 2019. 

The company’s business performance in the 2019 financial year will also be influenced by exceptional effects, 
 especially the optimization of the LD Group’s production structure described above.

Outlook
LD Didactic expects to generate modestly higher revenues in 2019 compared to 2018. The improved cost situa-
tion especially in the second half of 2019 and additional productivity improvements at the Cegléd location will 
probably also contribute to improved earnings.

AKAD UNIVERSITY

Company
AKAD University, which has belonged to AURELIUS since 2014, is the oldest private distance school in Germany. 
It specializes in flexible distance learning “wherever and whenever” for working people. It offers bachelor, 
 master and MBA degree programs in the fields of business and management, technology and computer  science, 
and communication and culture, as well as numerous continuing education programs. Currently, more than 
7,000 adults, mostly working professionals, are studying at AKAD University. Since 1959, more than 66,000 grad-
uates have earned degrees that are recognized in the German business community.  

Structure and organization 
AKAD University is headquartered in Stuttgart. It also operates 33 examination centers throughout Germany. The 
management team is divided into two areas of responsibility, one for the University and the Institute for Continu-
ing Education (German: Institut für Weiterbildung - IfW) and the other for Marketing/B2C, Corporate Customers/
B2B, CTO (e-learning technologies), and CFO/COO. AKAD University employs extensive processes and methods and 
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maintains documentation of responsibilities (RACI Matrix) and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), among other 
things.

Market environment
According to early indications, the German distance learning market for academic degrees and non-academic 
continuing education programs continued to grow at a modest, single-digit percentage rate in 2018. The market is 
currently being influenced by fundamental societal trends such as the scarcity of skilled workers, the growing 
demand for lifelong learning and academic degrees, technological developments, and the increasing digitaliza-
tion of society and work. This latter trend is also giving rise to new offerings and providers in the distance learning 
market. 

Current developments 
The 2018 continuing education providers study of TESTBild names a total of nine distance learning providers (pro-
viders of accredited online study programs). In the overall evaluation, the study ranks AKAD University in third 
place. AKAD University ranked first place in the evaluation of learning materials, learning success and referrals in 
the areas of electronic data processing, IT and multimedia. Compared to its competitors in general, AKAD Univer-
sity offers a wide range of programs in the three fields of computer science and technology, management and 
business, and languages. In the cross-sectional field of digitalization, AKAD University is to be regarded as the 
market pioneer. The company’s offering is geared to the German-language market. Compared to the correspond-
ing year-ago period, AKAD University increased its revenues in the first half of 2019, in line with the planned figure. 
EBITDA increased as a result of optimization measures and exceeded the plan figure.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The company is presently in the optimization phase. The platform and modularization concept for quick and 
 efficient product development has been implemented, allowing for the fast market introduction of new study 
programs. A total of eleven new bachelor’s degree programs were introduced in the 2018 financial year and three 
additional bachelor’s degree programs have been introduced so far in 2019. The advances made in digitalizing the 
product offering include the new online platform AKAD Campus, as well as e-books and online examinations, 
while the number of classroom-based study modules is declining. Due to the nature of the business model and 
the seasonal pattern of student enrollments, the first and fourth quarters are the strongest quarters of every 
 financial year.

Outlook 
The development of new study programs and the entry into new segments will probably be the biggest growth 
drivers for AKAD University in the coming years. New study programs will be introduced in several waves on the 
basis of variably usable module platforms. In addition, new segments such as the so-called dual study concept 
and internationalization offer good chances for additional revenues. 
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B+P GERÜSTBAU

Company
B+P Gerüstbau is the leading scaffold builder and construction site services provider in Berlin-Brandenburg. It 
is one of the few companies in Germany to possess the capacities and technical capabilities to build even the 
most complex scaffold designs. In the Construction Logistics division, the company also provides extensive 
services for equipping and operating construction sites. B+P Gerüstbau has been involved in the execution of 
nearly all large-scale regional projects and many superregional large-scale projects. In addition, the company 
handles numerous medium-sized and small projects. It has a stable customer base, including renowned 
 construction companies and public-sector institutions. B+P Gerüstbau has belonged to the AURELIUS Group 
since 2014. Since 2016, the company has been strengthened by numerous add-on acquisitions. Moreover, the 
Construction Logistics division, which had previously been integrated into the organization of B+P Gerüstbau, 
was spun off to an independent company, LoXite, in May 2019 to facilitate the nationwide expansion of the 
construction logistics business.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Wandlitz near Berlin, B+P Gerüstbau offers its services across all regions of Germany, with a 
particular focus on Berlin-Brandenburg, southeast Germany, northern Hesse, Munich, the Rhine-Ruhr region, 
Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein. It maintains offices and storage locations at the headquarters of each 
 company in Berlin, Hamburg, Munich, Schmölln near Leipzig, and Kaarst near Düsseldorf. B+P Gerüstbau is 
managed by one managing director.

Market environment
The market for scaffold building and construction site logistics is dependent on the general state of the con-
struction industry, which remained very strong in the first quarter of 2019 thanks to the overall good economic 
environment and the still low level of interest rates. Thus, construction industry revenues from main building 
activities increased by 14.8 percent in nominal terms in the first quarter of 2019, so that the expectation of real 
growth of three percent for the full year is assured. The German construction industry expects a similarly pos-
itive development in 2020. The German construction industry and therefore also the scaffold building industry 
are currently working at the limits of their capacity, mainly due to the limited number of skilled workers in all 
fields.

Current developments
B+P Gerüstbau affirmed its leading market position in the core market of Berlin-Brandenburg by means of 
strong organic and acquisition-driven growth. Also nationally, B+P Gerüstbau is one of the leading companies 
in Germany. The revenues of B+P Gerüstbau increased in the current financial year as a result of the business 
expansion in Munich and northern Germany and the growth of the construction logistics business. Although 
earnings for the first half of 2019 were considerably higher than the corresponding year-ago figure, they were 
below plan due to the costs for the expansion of the construction logistics business. 
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Significant factors affecting business performance  
There were no significant changes in the construction industry in the first half of 2019 compared to the year-ago 
period.  

Outlook
For the full year 2019, B+P Gerüstbau anticipates a further modest increase in revenues resulting from the expan-
sion of the scaffolding activities of Gerüstbau Raetz in the greater Munich area (first full financial year after the 
acquisition), as well as higher revenues in the greater Hamburg area and throughout northern Germany and the 
expansion of the construction logistics business. Several large-scale construction logistics orders were acquired in 
the first half of 2019 and will contribute further to the company’s revenue growth. In line with its growth strategy, 
B+P Gerüstbau continues to actively seek out new companies to acquire. Based on ongoing negotiations and 
company evaluations, additional add-on acquisitions are expected in the construction logistics business in 2019.

TRANSFORM/THE HOSPITAL GROUP

Company
Transform/The Hospital Group are the UK’s leading providers of cosmetic and non-surgical cosmetic procedures and 
weight-loss treatments. The companies, which have belonged to the AURELIUS Group since June 2015 and October 
2016, respectively, operate a network of 20 clinics in England, Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland, as well as three 
dedicated cosmetic procedure hospitals in Manchester, Birmingham, and London.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Manchester (United Kingdom), Transform/The Hospital Group is managed by a CEO with the 
 support of a senior management team in the areas of Finance, Human Resources, IT, Legal and Operations. The senior 
management team is also responsible for the company’s three operating segments of cosmetics, weight loss and 
cosmetic surgery.

Market environment
The market environment is still competition-intensive. As the UK’s largest provider in this market, the corporate group 
successfully defended its market share at the level of last year.

Current developments
Consumer confidence in the United Kingdom has weakened further as a result of the lingering uncertainty associated 
with Brexit, resulting in lower revenues for the entire sector in the first half of 2019. The revenues of Transform/The 
Hospital Group also came out below expectations. EBITDA was likewise below plan and less than the comparable 
year-ago figure. 

Significant factors affecting business performance 
Changes in Google’s search algorithms created disadvantages for commercial, private-sector providers because the 
websites of government-financed institutions such as the National Health Service (NHS) have been given preference 
in online search results since the conversion.

Although the consequences of the algorithm changes were mitigated by marketing measures, poor consumer senti-
ment caused broad-based revenue declines in the first half of 2019. All service providers in this market were impacted 
by this trend.
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The management team has developed a further restructuring plan to make the company more profitable. The goal is 
to reduce fixed costs and make the business more resilient against the sharp decline of demand. As a consequence of 
this reorganization, five unprofitable clinics were closed and the hospital leased at great expense in London was spun 
off. These steps freed-up resources for investments to increase the company’s market share in the second half of 2019 
and beyond.

In addition, Transform/The Hospital Group has made investments to expand its offering in the fast-growing segment 
of cosmetic surgery. These investments have already paid off and increasing revenues are expected also in the second 
half of the year.

Outlook
The outlook for the corporate group in 2019 is positive. The completed restructuring of the group combined with the 
investments made in cosmetic surgery are likely to improve profitability in the second half of the year and enable the 
company to increase revenues through investments into the year 2020.
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SEGMENT RETAIL & CONSUMER PRODUCTS (RCP)

Revenues from continued operations in the Retail & Consumer Products segment rose by nine percent to EUR 
1,342.4 million in the first half of 2019 (H1 2018: EUR 1,237.6 million). The NDS Group (formerly Hellanor), the 
wholesaler of automotive parts based in Hagan near Oslo (Norway), was acquired in December 2018 and was 
completely included in the segment‘s revenue figures for the first time in the first six months of 2019. 

Segment earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 26.6 million, 
considerably higher than the year-ago figure of minus EUR 3.4 million. Segment earnings before interest and 
taxes (EBIT) came to minus EUR 26.8 million (H1 2018: EUR -20.5 million). The cash and cash equivalents of this 
segment amounted to EUR 97.4 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 172.1 million).

SCHOLL FOOTWEAR

Company
Scholl Footwear is a long-established manufacturer of shoes offering a high degree of comfort. It markets its 
products in Europe, Asia, the Middle East, and Australia. In Europe, the shoes are sold mainly in pharmacies and 
medical supply stores. In Asia, the Middle East, and Australia, they are also sold in shoe stores and department 
stores. Scholl Footwear enjoys very widespread brand recognition of up to 80 percent in major markets. At the 
 present time, Italy, France, Spain, Thailand, and Malaysia are considered to be the most important markets. The 
company has positioned itself as the expert for comfortable shoes. Design and development work for Europe 
and the Middle East is performed in Italy; the company has its own development units in Australia and South-
east Asia. The company has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2014.

Structure and organization
Scholl Footwear has its headquarters in Milan (Italy). The CEO bears overall responsibility for Scholl Footwear. 
Each national subsidiary is managed by its own management team, to which the key areas of finance, market-
ing, sales and logistics report.

Market environment
The shoe market in Europe grew by an average of 2.1 percent per year between 2013 und 2017. Consumers spent 
EUR 67 billion on shoes in 2017, with athletic shoes performing especially well. Scholl Footwear’s revenues did 
not increase in 2018 and they shifted further from brick-and-mortar stores to online sales. The pharmacies 
 market continued to be consolidated in Europe, with independently operated pharmacies increasingly giving 
way to pharmacy chains and the percentage of shoes sold in pharmacies has been declining.

Current developments
The company’s revenue performance in the first half of 2019 was highly influenced by weather conditions in its 
various sales markets. Specifically, reorders for the important summer season remained well below expecta-
tions in Europe in the first half of 2019. Unit sales in pharmacies, which are particularly important for Europe, 
remained under pressure in all major markets. The sales declines could not be completely offset by the  increases 
in online sales. The operating result came out at the level of the year-ago period.
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Significant factors affecting business performance 
In the core market of Europe, the revenue losses encountered in the spring-summer season cannot be made up 
in the fall-winter season, which is much weaker for Scholl Footwear. However, the cost reduction measures 
initiated in a timely manner will limit the negative effect on earnings. Revenues in Thailand were considerably 
below the year-ago level due to consumer restraint resulting from the unclear political situation there. The 
revenue losses can be partially made up in the second half, also thanks to the recently initiated e-commerce 
activities. Earnings will be higher than in the corresponding period of last year due to the substantially im-
proved cost structure. Revenues were considerably higher than in the year-ago period in Malaysia and slightly 
higher than in the year-ago period in Australia. In both these countries, earnings will be higher than the corre-
sponding year-ago figures. Revenues from e-commerce have risen further thanks to sales in the company’s 
own web shop and third-party sales in marketplaces like Amazon.

Outlook
The environment will remain challenging in all markets in the second half of 2019. The measures initiated to 
improve earnings will be implemented rigorously.  

MEZ

Company
With a history that dates back more than 200 years, MEZ is the leading supplier of handicraft products in 
 Europe. It has belonged to AURELIUS since 2015. MEZ produces knitting, sewing, embroidery and crochet yarns 
made of cotton in its own production facility in Hungary and works primarily with handknitting yarn suppliers 
from Italy, Romania and Turkey. Depending on the material composition, however, the company also uses other 
suppliers from all around the world. MEZ ensures that its suppliers meet European environmental and labor 
protection standards and places great importance on proof of animal-friendly and environmentally friendly 
production of the raw materials it processes. Most of MEZ’s products are certified according to the Oeko-Tex 
100 Standard. In addition, the company’s well-known “Catania” cotton yarn has also been certified according to 
the Toy Safety Directive EN 91. 

Structure and organization 
MEZ includes the headquarters located in Herbolzheim, Baden-Württemberg, a central warehouse located in 
Salach, and a production facility in Hungary, as well as sales offices in numerous European countries. The man-
agement of MEZ is composed of the CEO, who also manages most of the group’s companies as sole managing 
director. 

He is supported at the second level by three regional sales directors, a Supply Chain Director, including logistics 
and production, and a CFO. As a core function, marketing is organized along the lines of the various brands. 
Corporate functions such as finance, procurement and IT are also bundled regionally.

Market environment
The market environment remains challenging. Again in 2019, the trends are very compartmentalized and short-
lived, so that no general trend reversal for the handicraft sector can be expected yet. In the segments of  sewing 
yarns and accessories, the market appears to have weakened further since 2018. By contrast, the segments of 
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knitting, crochet and embroidery are rather stable at the present time. In general, however, strong shifts in 
consumer demand between sales channels can be observed.

Current developments 
The continuously warm summer with many periods of fine weather in 2018 not only had a direct negative 
 effect on retail activities in central Europe last year, but also resulted in a weaker spring-summer season for 
suppliers in 2019, as excess inventories from the previous year are now being sold off. Thanks to the quite 
 robust 2018/19 winter season, MEZ is now ahead of the year-ago period and has also made gains relative to its 
competitors. Revenues are expected to be higher than the corresponding year-ago figure, particularly due to 
the success of the Rowan brand. Sales of sewing, embroidery and crochet yarns are in line with the planned 
figures operationally, but have suffered from the exchange rate development of the Turkish lira. 

Significant factors affecting business performance 
MEZ initiated further cost reduction measures in the spring of 2019 even as it continued the operational devel-
opment of its brands. Focal points include the alignment of success factors with the respective sales channels 
and markets and the expansion of social media activities and cooperative relationships with bloggers, design-
ers and influencers. As a brand supplier, MEZ continues to regard specialty stores as critically important part-
ners for the distribution of higher-quality products, but is also adapting consistently to changing consumer 
behavior in order to both serve and support existing demand in the best possible way.

Accompanying its handicraft products, MEZ will also offer various marketing enhancements in the future, 
 primarily including instructions and other ideas for using the offered products for knitting, embroidery and 
crochet, as well as fabrics and kits. 

Outlook 
MEZ expects that the market environment will remain just as challenging in 2019 as in the previous year. Based 
on the changes that have been initiated, further investments in direct consumer targeting and increased 
 customer acquisition efforts, the company is aiming for modestly higher revenues in 2019 compared to 2018.

CONAXESS TRADE GROUP

Company
The Conaxess Trade Group emerged from the acquisition of Swiss Valora AG’s distribution business and has 
belonged to the AURELIUS Group since January 1, 2016. The Conaxess Trade Group is Europe’s largest indepen-
dent distributor of fast-moving consumer goods. It operates primarily in the following categories: food, confec-
tionery, snacks, alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages, and personal hygiene. The Conaxess Trade Group main-
tains sales organizations in all Scandinavian countries (Denmark, Sweden, Norway, Finland), as well as Austria 
and Switzerland. It represents, promotes, and distributes more than 200 international and local brands, which 
generally do not handle their own distribution in these countries. The brand-name products are marketed 
 systematically through different retail and wholesale channels ranging from cross-border retail giants to HoReCa 
(hotel, restaurant, catering) channels, kiosks, and convenience stores.
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Structure and organization
The Conaxess Trade Group consists of seven companies in Denmark, Sweden, Norway, Finland, Austria, 
 Switzerland and Conaxess Trade Beverages AS. The group’s headquarters is located in Hvidovre (Copenhagen) 
in Denmark. The group’s management team is composed of a CEO and a CFO (Group Controlling), as well as the 
heads of Business Segment Development, Communication, IT and Human Resources. All subsidiaries of the 
Conaxess Trade Group have a similar organization with their own Managing Director, CFO, Marketing Director 
and Sales Director. Conaxess also operates its own logistical centers in Denmark and Switzerland. 

Market environment
The competitive environment for the Conaxess Trade Group did not change significantly in the first half of 2019. 
The company considers itself to be well positioned in comparison to its competitors. The market for fast-moving 
consumer goods is closely tied to the development of retail sales. According to preliminary data from  Eurostat, 
the development of retail sales as of May 2019 has been very mixed in the different countries of Finland (zero 
percent), Sweden (-0.3 percent), Denmark (-1.4 percent), Norway (-0.8 percent) and Austria (0.5 percent). These 
developments are also influenced by exchange rates, weather, holidays and vacation periods. The conditions for 
confectionery sales in Norway underwent significant changes. Last year’s tax increase of up to 83 percent on 
 sugary foods was repealed as of January 1, 2019. There were no significant developments in any other category in 
the individual countries. 

Current developments
The business of the Conaxess Trade Group is seasonally influenced by holidays like Easter, Christmas and 
 vacation periods and is closely tied to the trend of retail sales (culminating at Christmas season in the fourth 
quarter). 

The group’s revenues in the first half of 2019 were slightly below the previous year’s level. The profit contribu-
tion and EBITDA increased, but remained slightly below plan due to contract changes and currency effects.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The group’s revenue performance is mainly influenced by the introduction of new products and brands, as well as 
the re-introduction of existing products and brands, and by changes in products or the termination of contracts. 
The revenues of the Conaxess Trade Group have been adversely affected by the termination of some contracts in 
Denmark and Sweden. Positive effects arose from the acquisition of the business of Altia Plc. in Denmark and new 
business in Sweden, Finland and Switzerland. 

The earnings of the Conaxess Trade Group were adversely affected by the sharp depreciation of the Swedish 
krona and the Norwegian krone against the euro, the US dollar, and the British pound. Price increases can be 
passed on to retail customers only after a delay. Other significant factors influencing the business performance 
included the costs for the restructuring and downsizing of the workforce due to the termination of two contracts 
with brand owners.

The productivity and efficiency enhancement program is being continued in 2019. Also this year, the Conaxess 
Trade Group will implement a number of restructuring measures and the number of employees in some national 
subsidiaries will be reduced further. An add-on acquisition by Conaxess Trade Norway AS in 2018 will yield full 
 effects in the form of realized synergies and make a very positive contribution to earnings in 2019.
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Outlook
The outlook for the business performance of the Conaxess Trade Group remains positive. It is fundamentally de-
pendent on the brand owners’ strategies for the development of their respective brands, possible new product 
introductions, price increases and negotiations with retailers.

The Conaxess Trade Group expects a higher profit contribution and earnings in 2019 compared to 2018.

SCANDINAVIAN COSMETICS GROUP

Company
The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group emerged from the acquisition of Valora AG’s distribution business and has 
belonged to the AURELIUS Group since January 2016. It is the market-leading independent distributor for high-qual-
ity cosmetics and perfumes in Scandinavia – active in Denmark, Sweden, Norway, and Finland. As a specialist for 
high-quality cosmetics and perfumes from the premium and luxury segment with comprehensive access to the 
market, the company covers all relevant distribution channels and therefore in particular perfumeries, drug stores, 
upmarket department stores, and online stores.

Structure and organization 
The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group consists of six individual companies under the roof of Scandinavian Cosmetics 
Holding. The company also operates a warehouse at its headquarters in the Swedish city of Malmö. Alf Sörensen 
AB and Solis AS, which were acquired as add-on acquisitions in July 2018, have since been integrated into the 
 Scandinavian Cosmetics Group. The management is composed of a CEO, a deputy CEO, and a CFO, who manage 
the company in the four countries together with a senior management team.

Market environment
According to industry information from Eurostat, the market grew by 1.6 percent in Sweden and by 1.0 percent in 
Norway in the first quarter of 2019 compared to the first quarter of last year. A trend towards higher-quality luxury 
brands can still be observed. The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group is aligning its brand and product portfolio with 
this trend.

Current developments
The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group reported considerably higher revenues in the first half of 2019 thanks in large 
part to the acquisitions of Solis International Cosmetics and Alf Sörensen and the addition of new brands to the 
portfolio. In addition, significant cost savings and lasting synergy effects were achieved in the course of integrat-
ing these two companies, for which reason EBITDA was likewise considerably higher than the year-ago figure.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The first half of the current fiscal year was characterized by growth and integration. The development of the 
brands that were newly added to the portfolio in 2018, such as Wella, Rimmel, Bourjois, Grown Alchemist, Le 
Couvant and Nars, was promoted in a focused way and the new brand Bondi Sands was added to the portfolio. 
Furthermore, the portfolios resulting from the successful acquisitions of Solis International Cosmetics and Alf 
Sörensen in 2018 further strengthened the business model and appreciably improved the company’s negotiat-
ing position vis-à-vis retailers. Both companies have since been completely integrated into the Scandinavian 
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Cosmetics Group. The operational management of Solis International Cosmetics was taken over by Engelschiøn 
Marwell Hauge and the companies were combined at the beginning of this year. The activities of Alf Sörensen 
AB were centralized at the joint site in Malmö and the offi  ce in Stockholm was closed. The merger of ware-
house and logistics processes, the synchronization of workfl ows, and the consolidation of back-offi  ce activities 
led to signifi cant cost savings in both Norway and Sweden.

Outlook
Based on its fi nancial plan, Scandinavian Cosmetics Group expects considerably higher revenues and earnings in 
2019. The main drivers of these increases will be the growth of existing brands, the expanded distribution of cur-
rent brands such as Artdeco, Isadora, Maxfactor, Rimmel and Bourjois in specialty stores, pharmacies and grocery 
stores in the second half of the year, and the addition of new brands to the portfolio such as Kingsman and 
NO HAIR CREW in Sweden. In addition, the corporate group will benefi t permanently from the improved cost and 
performance structure resulting from the completed integration of Solis International Cosmetics and Alf Sörensen.  

CALUMET WEX

Company
Calumet Wex is Europe’s leading omni-channel vendor of products for photography enthusiasts and professional 
photographers, with 20 specialty shops in the United Kingdom, Germany, Belgium and the Netherlands, as well as 
an online shop. The corporate group off ers a broad portfolio of brand-name products of reputable manufacturers 
and own-label brands and services. Calumet has belonged to AURELIUS since 2016, Wex since 2017. In addition, 
Calumet Wex acquired the equity of Foto-Video Sauter in late 2018.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Hamburg, Calumet Wex is managed by a two-person management team. One team member is 
responsible for Calumet’s business in central Europe, the other for Wex’s business in the United Kingdom. The 
extended management team also includes several executives for marketing, online sales, IT and fi nance. Besides 
the physical stores and online shops, the group also operates two warehouses in northern Germany and the 
United Kingdom in order to ensure the quick delivery of products to the retail stores and online customers.

Market environment
The growing use of smartphones and their increasingly better cameras have radically changed the way customers 
deal with photography. Smartphone cameras are always on hand and the wish to take photos has increased 
 dramatically since the market introduction of smartphones. This trend has also been helped by the rise of social 
media, which have created the opportunity to share photographs with others at any time. For these reasons, the 
market for low-cost photography has come under intense pressure. By contrast, the market for higher-quality 
and premium-quality photography has benefi tted from the rising interest in quality photos because premium 
products off er signifi cantly more setting and post-processing options and even higher image quality than 
 smartphones. The market for photographic equipment is highly fragmented and most retailers are family owned 
enterprises with just one location. Many of these shop owners in continental Europe and the United Kingdom are 
falling behind because they cannot keep up with the multi-channel and services off erings of Calumet Wex.
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Calumet Wex operates in two key segments: the stable market for high-end photographic equipment and the 
fast-growing service segment. Calumet Wex is the only company in the relevant markets of Europe to focus 
strongly on the high-end segment of semi-professional and professional photographers.

Current developments
As of mid-2019, Calumet Wex operates a total of 20 shops, including eight in Germany, nine in the United King-
dom, and three in the Benelux countries. These shops are well equipped and have been modernized in accordance 
with a new shop concept. New shops were opened in London, Bristol, Manchester, Berlin and – most recently – 
Frankfurt. The group also operates two successful online shops. Wex generates nearly half its revenues from on-
line sales and has attained a market-leading position in the United Kingdom. Revenues on sales of high-end cam-
eras and lenses increased by 5.7 percent in continental Europe and by 3.2 percent in the United Kingdom in 2018. 
Between 2014 and 2018, Calumet generated average annual revenue growth of around 18 percent in Germany, 
which was much better than the overall market, both in traditional retail shops and online sales. During the 
 period, the share of online sales increased to 22 percent, with the greatest organic growth potential in Germany. 
Calumet has a market share of ten percent of the German market for high-end photography. In the United King-
dom, Wex further extended its market position as the dominant online platform for high-end photography. Wex 
has a market share of 24 percent in the UK. Compared to 2017, Calumet Wex generated higher revenues and 
EBITDA in 2018. Revenues were slightly below the planned increase, while EBITDA growth was considerably above 
plan.  

Significant factors affecting business performance 
All shops in the United Kingdom were modernized and re-opened under a new name in 2018. After Calumet Wex 
moved into new shops in Berlin und London in late 2017, the sales numbers increased in both locations. A new 
flagship store in Frankfurt/Main with more than 800 m² of retail space was opened in June 2019. Generally speak-
ing, the fact that camera manufacturers introduce a number of new products every year is beneficial for sales. 
The merger of Calumet UK and Wex had a positive effect on EBITDA in 2018 thanks to the realization of synergies. 

The operations of Sauter, Germany’s biggest retailer of photography and video equipment based in Munich, 
which were acquired in December 2018, will be integrated into Calumet’s German business in the current 2019 
year, resulting in a wide range of synergy effects.

Outlook
Calumet Wex continually invests in new flagship stores. Calumet covers all larger metropolitan areas in Germany, 
the Netherlands, and Belgium. Thanks to its presence in all larger cities of the UK, Wex can serve a large propor-
tion of potential customers there. The opening of new stores in regions such as the northeast of England offers 
opportunities for further growth. Increased revenues should result from the introduction of exclusive proprietary 
brands with higher profit margins, the expansion of online sales, sales of second-hand photographic equipment, 
an in-house repair service, a broad range of rental photographic equipment for semi-professional and profes-
sional customers, and a broad offering of photography workshops. For 2019, Calumet Wex expects rising sales 
numbers for its proprietary brands and an overall increase in revenues and EBITDA.
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OFFICE DEPOT EUROPE 

Company
Office Depot Europe is the European business of U.S.-based Office Depot Inc., acquired by AURELIUS in early 2017. 
It is active in 14 European countries itself and in many other European countries via subsidiaries and business 
partners. Office Depot Europe is one of the leading vendors in the product areas of office supplies, printing and 
document services, computers and printers, business services such as facility management, and integrated office 
solutions. 

The company sells its products directly to roughly one million small and medium-sized enterprises and individuals 
under the Viking brand name via the online shop, catalog sales and call centers. The principal markets for Viking 
products are the German-speaking countries of Germany, Austria and Switzerland, as well as the United Kingdom 
and Ireland. Through its broad distribution network, the Contract Division supplies a large number of corporate 
customers mainly in the markets of United Kingdom/Ireland, Benelux, the German-speaking countries and 
France. The Retail Division, which sells products under the Office Depot brand, operates in the company’s “City 
Stores” and in stores located in shopping centers in France and Sweden.

Structure and organization
Office Depot Europe has its headquarters in the Dutch city of Venlo. The company is managed according to the 
two operating segments Contract and Direct and by corporate staff functions. The markets of France, Czech 
Republic/Slovakia, Spain, Italy, and Sweden are managed locally and independently of each other to a large 
extent. The two sales lines Direct and Contract service their customer segments with specific marketing and 
sales processes tailored to individual customer needs. By contrast, the product assortment and procurement 
are managed centrally in the principal regions. Distribution in the German-speaking countries and in the 
 Benelux and United Kingdom is handled primarily from the distribution centers in Großostheim, Leicester and 
Ashton. 

Market environment
The market for office supplies in Europe is changing. Online sales continue to grow at a strong pace, while sales in 
traditional sales channels such as stores and catalogs are under strong pressure and are declining in some cases. 
The market environment is still highly competitive and demanding.

Current developments
Office Depot Europe continues to focus on its customers in the current year. It is constantly working to further 
improve its B2B and B2C marketing strategies. It is also pursuing numerous projects to support the digital trans-
formation of the company and generate growth in e-commerce sales. Another strong point of emphasis for the 
company is the further improvement of a positive shopping experience for existing and new customers in all 
areas.  

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The management of Office Depot Europe has implemented numerous measures to stabilize the business. 
A   restructuring program is helping the company become more agile, efficient and effective. Cost savings are 
 improving the profit margin and liquidity situation. The procurement of new IT systems is further optimizing the 
company’s processes. In the area of direct sales, the company is particularly focusing on the development of a 
digital marketplace. To this end, the company is working on an extended assortment platform. Another focal 
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point is the further development of end-to-end marketing. Brexit remains a challenge for the requirements and 
procurement planning of Office Depot Europe, although the management team is prepared for different 
 scenarios.

Outlook
2019 is a year of consolidation for Office Depot Europe. The goal is to continue the positive trend of the fourth 
quarter of 2018 and the first months of 2019 and further stabilize sales. This is a challenge due to the increasingly 
weakening economy in Europe, and for that reason the company’s performance in the second quarter did not 
completely meet expectations. The further development after the planned departure of the United Kingdom 
from the EU and the consequences of that departure is still a major uncertainty factor. Office Depot Europe will 
continue to rigorously implement the initiated measures and investment projects in order to achieve the business 
goals for 2019.

SILVAN

Company
Silvan is a leading DIY (do-it-yourself) retail chain in Denmark, with the highest brand awareness in this sector. 
Silvan operates 44 DIY stores and an online shop in Denmark and mainly targets individual clients. Silvan’s stores, 
which are favorably located for customers in close proximity to larger cities, offer not only conventional DIY prod-
ucts such as building materials and gardening products, but also home improvement products. The customer 
services offered include traditional retail services such as click & collect, full-range drive-up options, individualized 
services such as custom wood cutting and paint mixing, and equipment and trailer rentals. Silvan was acquired 
by AURELIUS in September 2017. 

Structure and organization 
Silvan moved its headquarters to Brabrand, part of the Danish city of Aarhus, in 2018. The management team is 
composed of a CEO, a CFO and a CSO. Other, lower-ranking functions particularly include category management, 
marketing, IT and logistics.

Market environment
The competition situation is unchanged from the previous year. The main competitors in the B2B business are still 
Bauhaus, Jem & Fix, and Harald Nyborg, which continue to expand and open new stores in Denmark. The market 
is still undergoing changes. For example, a large B2B retailer was acquired by a U.S. private equity firm and  another 
competitor was sold to yet another competitor.

Current developments
The separation of Silvan from the Stark Group was completed in 2018. In consultation with AURELIUS, the 
 company launched various optimization projects to realize identified potentials. More uniform standards were 
defined for all stores, the merchandise assortment was reorganized and the e-commerce segment was 
strengthened. New personnel were appointed to key management functions. The development of the compa-
ny’s own IT landscape and the independent organization of the IT and Finance department was completed 
earlier than planned. Silvan’s online sales in the web shop and via click-and-collect increased last year. Nonethe-
less, Silvan’s revenues remained below expectations in 2018 and in the first half of 2019 and are currently below 
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plan. The EBITDA generated so far in 2019 is below expectations and therefore further earnings improvement 
measures have been initiated as part of the restructuring program.  

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The turnaround is proceeding according to plan. The organizational restructuring of headquarters has been 
completed. A new operational structure was introduced in the stores and personnel expenses were reduced 
considerably. A project to simplify logistics is currently still being implemented. Other projects to improve the 
profit margin are likewise being implemented. 

The DIY business is very seasonal and the company’s success has been highly dependent on seasonal trends. The 
main season usually lasts from mid-March to the end of August. The company was very successful in the first half 
of last year due to the unusually good weather. However, this level of revenues could not be matched in the first 
half of 2019 due to worse weather, especially in April and May.

Inventories increased substantially in the 2018 financial year. Inventory reduction measures were developed and 
are being implemented since the beginning of 2019. 

Silvan is developing new product categories to reduce the company’s dependence on seasonal trends and in-
crease revenues outside of the main selling season. For example, the Home Décor product category was intro-
duced in 2018 and is now being successfully expanded in 2019. Silvan developed and tested a new branch concept 
last year and will open additional branches in the medium term on the basis of this experience. 

Outlook
Based on the efficiency-enhancing measures initiated in the areas of personnel and logistics, as well as the dedi-
cated profit margin improvement programs, the management expects the company’s earnings situation to im-
prove considerably in 2020. In addition, the branch network will be optimized further by opening new stores and 
closing unprofitable stores. 

BERTRAM BOOKS

Company
Bertram Books is a globally active multi-channel bookseller with a strong, competitive market position in the 
United Kingdom and Europe. The company was acquired by AURELIUS under its former name Connect Books in 
early 2018 and renamed to Bertram Books.

Bertram Books comprises six business models or brands:

•  Bertram Books is a leading B2B wholesaler of books in the United Kingdom.
•  Bertram offers tailored services, from complete warehouse management to the management of online sales.
•  Wordery is the fastest-growing B2C online book shop in the UK, offering access to more than 13 million book 

titles.
•  Dawson Books is a leading supplier of textbooks and e-books, as well as service and information systems for 

universities and other educational institutions in the UK and internationally.
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•  Erasmus and Houtschild are internationally active specialty suppliers and curators of premium-quality books 
and journals for academic and corporate libraries, with many years of experience in the procurement of hard-
to-find titles. 

•  Bertram Library Services is one of the most important suppliers to lending libraries, especially in the United 
Kingdom and Ireland.

Structure and organization
Bertram Books has its headquarters in Norwich (United Kingdom), were it also operates a modern warehouse 
where book deliveries are assembled and shipped. The warehouse also has capacities for other products. Around 
ten million different book titles across all categories are available at any time. Bertram Books is managed by a 
newly appointed management team, which also includes the executives in charge of the various divisions.

Market environment
The market for printed books is stable to modestly growing. However, brick-and-mortar booksellers are under 
pressure, leading to a consolidation of the market. Some vendors are pulling out of the market. By contrast, online 
book sales continue to grow, although the competition for end customers is intense.

Current developments
After the successful carve-out of the company in 2018 and the implementation of an extensive restructuring 
package, the company was able to build on the successful conclusion of 2018. In the first half of 2019, it focused on 
expanding its own “Wordery” online platform and improving the shopping experience for customers. Numerous 
measures were implemented to further optimize and automate the warehouse and IT infrastructure and lower 
costs. 

Significant factors affecting business performance 
The new management team was reinforced by the addition of an executive with relevant industry experience. 
The company established numerous new sales channels particularly outside of the UK (e.g. in the Netherlands, 
Australia, and the United States). These sales channels will serve as the basis for future growth. Prestigious 
new customers were acquired in the retail business. 

Outlook
2019 is a year of transition for Bertram, when it expects to permanently consolidate the results of the many 
measures that have been implemented. The management also anticipates above-average growth in the com-
pany’s online sales channels.

IDEAL SHOPPING DIRECT

Company
Ideal Shopping Direct is a leading multi-channel home shopping provider in the United Kingdom. It has belonged 
to the AURELIUS Group since July 2018. The company purchases, designs, and sells lifestyle products, as well as 
 do-it-yourself and craft supplies, to more than 600,000 customers via different interactive sales channels such as 
TV shopping, social media, websites and live events. Ideal Shopping Direct operates two flagship forms, Ideal 
World and Create & Craft, which distribute TV content in the United Kingdom and the United States. 
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Structure and organization
Ideal Shopping Direct has its headquarters in Peterborough (United Kingdom). This is also where the company 
designs, produces, and broadcasts its TV programs and ships its products to end customers. Other product design 
business units are located at other sites in the United Kingdom.

Market environment
Home shopping is a long-established tradition in the United Kingdom and online shopping is likewise very 
common. Nearly 80 percent of the population shops online. Three quarters of Britons own a smartphone. The 
TV consumption of Britons is still high, with a daily viewing average of more than three hours (as of 2019, source: 
BARB). That being said, the average viewing time has declined in the last few years. 

The British home shopping market is still the most hotly contested in Europe. Currently, 30 shopping channels 
are registered. While this number has remained relatively constant in the last five years, there have been 
 substantial changes on the side of providers. Ideal Shopping Direct is the second-biggest provider today, after 
QVC. Ideal Shopping Direct’s Create & Craft channel is the clear market leader for craft supplies in the home 
shopping market.

Current developments
After being acquired by AURELIUS, the company has already implemented preliminary measures to optimize 
 revenues and costs, which have begun to yield positive results.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
A significant factor affecting the business performance of Ideal Shopping Direct is the challenging macro-
economic environment in the United Kingdom. Above all, the uncertainties related to Britain’s exit from the 
EU have had a considerably negative impact on the economy. According to the International Monetary Fund, 
the British economy should grow by 1.2 percent in 2019, after 1.4 percent in 2018.

The company implemented various measures last year to stabilize the business, including the introduction of 
new products, the development of a proprietary brand for e-bikes, and marketing measures such as the intro-
duction of an online customer magazine. All operating segments were analyzed after the acquisition of Ideal 
Shopping Direct by the AURELIUS Group in July 2018. Based on the results of this analysis, processes were 
 simplified, costs were lowered (including personnel expenses), and warehouse inventories and capacities were 
 reduced. These measures made it possible to reduce external warehouse space and the associated costs. Two 
new managing directors – a CEO and a CFO – were hired in December 2018.

Outlook
Increasing product diversity is one of the greatest future challenges for established home shopping providers 
in particular. To this end, the company intends to increase the number of suppliers and thus the number of 
 directly shipped products. Considerable successes have been achieved in this regard in the current year. 
 Furthermore, the number of products that are additionally available in the web shop has been increased, thus 
expanding the product offering beyond the products offered on TV. Digitalization remains a challenge for 
 vendors. The company’s IT systems and broadcast technology are being reviewed and modernized where 
 necessary. In this regard, one of the recording studios is being modernized in order to produce specific content 
for online marketing. New cameras and systems are being installed for this purpose. The revenues of Ideal 
Shopping Direct in 2019 should be at least at the level of the previous year.
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NDS GRUPPE (FORMERLY: HELLANOR)

Company
The NDS Group (formerly Hellanor) is Norway’s second-biggest wholesaler of automotive parts. The company 
offers a full-range portfolio of parts, shop equipment, and services to an extensive customer base including 
independent mechanic shops, car dealerships, and local wholesalers. In addition, the NDS Group offers repair 
shop concepts under the in-house brand “AutoMester” and concepts for third-party customers such as Bosch 
Car Service, for example. The business division that had formerly belonged to the Hella Group was acquired by 
AURELIUS in December 2018 and was renamed to the NDS Group (Nordic Distribution and Service Group) in June 
2019.

Structure and organization
The company has its headquarters in Hagan near Oslo (Norway) and operates a central warehouse there, as well 
as more than 20 branches located throughout the country. The management team is composed of a CEO, a CFO, a 
Sales Director, a Director for the connected franchise concept, a Marketing Director and a Director of Operations.

Market environment
The number of vehicle registrations in Norway increased by 2.6 percent in 2017. The independent spare parts 
 market is mainly stable, but is changing as a result of the rising share of electric vehicles. 

Current developments
After a good start to the year, the company’s performance in the spring months remained below expectations 
due to the warm weather. Revenues stabilized at the beginning of summer and June revenues were higher than 
in June of last year. The company’s performance in the segment of mechanic shops was positive, as it continued 
to win new customers. The NDS Group won two large-scale orders for mechanic shops, which will be completed 
by the end of 2020.

Significant factors affecting business performance 
Also next year, the target customer segment of independent repair shops will be heavily influenced by digitaliza-
tion and the growing importance of professionalism.  

Outlook
The company was successfully separated from the Hella Group and an extensive optimization program was 
 implemented in the first half of 2019. The company was successfully repositioned in the market by means of the 
recently conducted re-branding campaign. In the second half of 2019, the company will focus on the implementa-
tion of additional growth levers such as the launch of proprietary brands and the modernization of the IT and 
process landscape. As a result of these measures, the company anticipates stable revenues and much higher 
profitability in 2019.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE, CASH FLOWS AND  
FINANCIAL POSITION

Financial performance

The consolidated revenues of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA rose by 13 percent to EUR 1,683.9 
million in the first half of 2019 (H1 2018: EUR 1,492.5 million). This increase resulted mainly from the Group com-
panies acquired in the second half of 2018, which are now included in the consolidated financial statements for 
the first time.

The closing date of each transaction is determining for the first-time consolidation or inclusion of a subsidiary in 
the consolidated financial statements because this is the first time that complete control of the company is 
 attained. The revenues and results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements only from the date of initial consolidation. Therefore, they are only included on a pro-rated basis.

The annualized, i.e. extrapolated to a full 12 months, consolidated revenues of the AURELIUS Group amounted to 
EUR 3,536.1 million (H1 2018: EUR 3,419.6 million).

No new corporate groups were acquired in the first half of 2019. The following corporate groups were sold: 

Working Links was removed from the consolidation group of AURELIUS in February 2019. In a transition process 
that had been coordinated with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) in advance, the business of providing social and 
 reintegration services for the British authorities (so-called CRCs, Community Rehabilitation Companies) was 
transferred to the service provider Seetec, based in Hockley (United Kingdom).

AURELIUS sold its subsidiary Granovit, based in Lucens (Switzerland), to the current management team led by CEO 
Andreas Fischer in a management buy-out in early April 2019. AURELIUS had acquired the company from Cargill in 
2017. 

AURELIUS sold its subsidiary SOLIDUS to private equity funds advised by Centerbridge Partners L.P. in late June 
2019. SOLIDUS is the leading European producer of sustainable packaging solutions made from solid board on the 
basis of recycled paper for food, beverages and gardening products, as well as consumer goods and industrial 
applications. The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2019.

The companies sold before the reporting date are no longer included in the revenues and earnings of the first half 
of 2019 and the comparison figures for the first half of 2018. The comparison figures were adjusted in accordance 
with the provisions of IFRS 5 (rules for the accounting treatment of non-current assets held for sale and discontin-
ued operations).

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8, the Group companies are assigned to the operating segments of 
Industrial Production, Services & Solutions and Retail & Consumer Products for purposes of the segment report. 
Please refer to Note 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for information on the key indicators 
of the segments and discontinued operations. 
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Other income declined to EUR 30.2 million (H1 2018: EUR 36.1 million). The figure for the first half of 2018 included 
bargain purchase income in the amount of EUR 8.8 million, whereas no such income was recognized in the first 
half of 2019 because no companies were acquired in this period.

Purchased goods and services rose by 12 percent to EUR 1,058.1 million (H1 2018: EUR 945.7 million). The purchased 
goods and services ratio was around 63 percent in the first half of 2019, the same as in the year-ago comparison 
period. Personnel expenses amounted to EUR 318.1 million, reflecting an increase of ten percent from the compar-
ison period (H1 2018: EUR 290.1 million). The personnel expenses ratio came to 19 percent in the first half of 2019 
(H1 2018: 19 percent). 

Other expenses rose by eight percent to EUR 295.5 million (H1 2018: EUR 274.5 million). Earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) nearly tripled to EUR 30.5 million (H1 2018: EUR 10.4 million). Amorti-
zation and depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment increased substantially to EUR 
76.7 million (H1 2018: EUR 27.9 million). Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) came to minus EUR 46.2 million 
(H1 2018: EUR -17.6 million).

Under consideration of net financial income/expenses of minus EUR 18.6 million (H1 2018: EUR -6.8 million) and 
income taxes of EUR 1.9 million (H1 2018: EUR -0.5 million), the profit/loss from continued operations came to 
 minus EUR 62.9 million (H1 2018: EUR -24.8 million). The profit/loss from discontinued operations amounted to 
EUR 11.8 million (H1 2018: EUR 3.8 million). The consolidated profit/loss for the first half of 2019 was minus EUR 
51.0 million (H1 2018: EUR -21.0 million). Diluted earnings per share from continued and discontinued operations 
amounted to minus EUR 1.58 (H1 2018: EUR -0.63).

Financial position and cash flows

The total assets of the AURELIUS Group rose to EUR 2,529.4 million at the reporting date of June 30, 2019 (De-
cember 31, 2018: EUR 2,148.5 million).

The noncurrent assets of EUR 1,014.6 million were 63 percent higher than at the end of financial year 2018 and 
accounted for 40 percent of total assets (December 31, 2018: EUR 622.5 million or 29 percent of total assets). 
They included intangible assets in the amount of EUR 198.4 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 224.3 million). 
Intangible assets are mainly composed of trademarks, industrial property rights, order backlogs, technolo-
gies, capitalized research and development expenses, and customer relationships. 

Property, plant and equipment increased substantially by 119 percent to EUR 780.8 million (December 31, 
2018: EUR 356.2 million) due to the first-time application of IFRS 16. Financial assets rose by 16 percent over the 
corresponding figure at December 31, 2018 to EUR 11.8 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 10.2 million). Deferred 
tax assets declined by 26 percent to EUR 23.6 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 31.7 million).

Current assets declined slightly by one percent to EUR 1,514.8 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 1,526.1 million). 
Inventories declined by 14 percent to EUR 397.0 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 462.4 million). The trade 
 receivables of EUR 398.4 million were 15 percent less than the year-ago figure (December 31, 2018: EUR 468.3 
million). Income tax assets declined to EUR 4.3 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 7.0 million). Other financial 
assets increased to EUR 185.9 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 126.1 million). Other assets fell by 28 percent to 
EUR 49.7 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 68.7 million).

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 179.6 million, as compared to EUR 290.8 million at December 31, 
2018. 
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The equity of the AURELIUS Group declined by ten percent to EUR 481.0 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 536.2 
million). This corresponds to an equity ratio of 19 percent (December 31, 2018: 25 percent). 

Non-current liabilities increased substantially to EUR 874.9 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 449.2 million). The 
non-current pension obligations of EUR 24.3 million were slightly less than the corresponding figure of EUR 
24.9 million at December 31, 2018. Provisions declined by 17 percent to EUR 42.2 million (December 31, 2018: 
EUR 50.6 million). Non-current financial liabilities declined by 16 percent to EUR 227.3 million (December 31, 
2018: EUR 271.5 million).

Other financial liabilities increased substantially to EUR 549.8 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 54.0 million), 
due to the first-time application of IFRS 16. Deferred tax liabilities declined by 45 percent to EUR 19.3 million 
(December 31, 2018: EUR 35.1 million).

Current liabilities increased slightly by one percent to EUR 1,173.5 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 1,163.2 mil-
lion). Current provisions fell by 21 percent to EUR 33.0 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 41.8 million). Current 
financial liabilities rose by nine percent to EUR 227.9 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 209.1 million). Trade pay-
ables declined to EUR 425.8 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 531.2 million). Income tax liabilities amounted to 
EUR 9.3 million, as compared to EUR 11.7 million at December 31, 2018. Other financial liabilities rose substan-
tially to EUR 54.3 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 32.7 million) due to the first-time application of IFRS  16. 
Other liabilities fell by 22 percent to EUR 204.7 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 262.2 million).

Development of cash flows

The AURELIUS Group generated cash flow from operating activities in the amount of minus EUR 33.3 million in 
the first half of 2019 (H1 2018: EUR -58.9 million). The change resulted mainly from changes within working 
 capital.

The cash flow from investing activities was minus EUR 54.0 million (H1 2018: EUR -87.1 million). It mainly includes 
cash outflows for investments in non-current assets in the amount of EUR 43.0 million (H1 2018: EUR 40.0 mil-
lion). The figure for the first half of 2018 also included payments from the acquisition of equity interestsin sub-
sidiaries in the amount of EUR 55.4 million. 

The free cash flow generated in the first half of 2019 was minus EUR 87.3 million, as compared to minus EUR 
146.0 million in the year-ago period.

The cash flow from financing activities amounted to minus EUR 31.9 million in the first half of 2019 (H1 2018: 
EUR -141.4 million). It includes cash inflows from the borrowing of current financial liabilities in the amount of 
EUR 3.7 million (H1 2018: cash outflows for the repayment of current financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 
9.4 million) and cash outflows for the repayment of non-current financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 
23.4 million (H1 2018: cash inflows from the borrowing of non-current financial liabilities in the amount of 
EUR 8.8million).

Employees

The AURELIUS Group had 13,304 employees at the reporting date of June 30, 2019 (December 31, 2018: 15,131). This 
number included 8,362 salaried employees and 4,942 wage earners.
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  CO M P R E H E N S I V E  I N CO M E

GROUP INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA  
for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2019

in kEUR Notes 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018*

Continued operations

Revenues 2.1 1,683,868 1,492,473

Change in inventories of finished and unfinished goods -11,897 -8,043

Other income 2.2 30,197 36,147

Purchased goods and services  -1,058,091 -945,665

Personnel expenses  -318,054 -290,092

Other expenses 2.3 -295,499 -274,461

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
 amortization (EBITDA)

30,524 10,361

Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment 

-76,676 -27,910

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) -46,152 -17,549

Other interest and similar income 533 -579

Interest and similar expenses -19,137 -6,182

Net financial income/expenses -18,604 -6,761

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -64,756 -24,310

Income taxes 1,885 -452

Profit/loss after taxes from continued operations -62,871 -24,762

Discontinued operations

Profit/loss from discontinued operations  11,834 3,750

Consolidated profit/loss -51,037 -21,012

Other comprehensive income/loss 
(to be recognized in profit or loss in the future)

Currency translation differences 1,622 -3,727

Other comprehensive income/loss 
(not to be reclassified in profit or loss in the future)

Revaluation IAS 19 901 1,355

Other comprehensive income 2,523 -2,372

Comprehensive income/loss -48,514 -23,384
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  CO M P R E H E N S I V E  I N CO M E

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

continued

in kEUR Notes 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018*

Share of consolidated profit/loss attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company  -51,743 -22,046

Non-controlling interests 705 1,034

 

Share of comprehensive income/loss attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company  -49,220 -24,418

Non-controlling interests 705 1,034

Earnings per share

Basic in EUR  

from continued operations -2.14 -0.90

from discontinued operations 0.40 0.13

Total from continued and discontinued operations -1.74 -0.77

Diluted in EUR

from continued operations -1.95 -0.75

from discontinued operations 0.37  0.12

Total from continued and discontinued operations -1.58 -0.63

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with the provi-
sions of IFRS 5.
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA at June 30, 2019

ASSETS

in kEUR Notes 6/30/2019 12/31/2018

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 3.1 198,361 224,281

Property, plant and equipment 3.2 780,787 356,228

Financial assets 3.3 11,820 10,203

Deferred tax assets 23,626 31,738

Total non-current assets 1,014,594 622,450

Current assets

Inventories 396,968 462,392

Trade receivables 398,374 468,344

Income tax assets 4,327 7,034

Other financial assets 185,941 126,109

Other assets 49,712 68,660

Derivative financial instruments 167 - / -

Deferred expenses 28,751 35,742

Cash and cash equivalents 179,559 290,756

Non-current assets held for sale 271,039 67,054

Total current assets 1,514,838 1,526,091

Total assets 2,529,432 2,148,541
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
continued

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

in kEUR 6/30/2019 12/31/2018

Equity

Subscribed capital 30,560 30,560

Additional paid-in capital 9,982 9,982

Other reserves -4,240 -6,763

Retained earnings 430,434 485,007

Share of equity attributable to shareholders of 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA

466,736 518,786

Non-controlling interests 14,221 17,384

Total equity 480,957 536,170

Non-current liabilities

Pension obligations 24,308 24,936

Provisions 42,198 50,628

Financial liabilities 227,321 271,452

Other financial liabilities 549,810 53,957

Deferred tax liabilities 19,310 35,083

Other liabilities 11,997 13,120

Total non-current liabilities 874,944 449,176

Current liabilities

Pension obligations 33 26

Provisions 32,960 41,770

Financial liabilities 227,897 209,135

Trade payables 425,771 531,214

Income tax liabilities 9,312 11,695

Derivative financial instruments - / - 1

Other financial liabilities 54,259 32,742

Deferred income 19,806 17,943

Other liabilities 204,716 262,235

Non-current liabilities held for sale 198,777 56,434

Total current liabilities 1,173,531 1,163,195

Total equity and liabilities 2,529,432 2,148,541
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2018

in kEUR Other reserves
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January 1, 2018 28,953 16,101 591,375 - / - -2,695 -11,740 621,993 6,564 628,557

Comprehensive income/loss

Consolidated profit/loss for the period - / - - / - -50,711 - / - - / - - / - -50,711 8,380 -42,331

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 1,526 1,526 - / - 1,526

Currency translation differences - / - - / - - / - - / - 6,146 - / - 6,146 - / - 6,146

Comprehensive income/loss - / - - / - -50,711 - / - 6,146 1,526 -43,039 8,380 -34,659

Equity transactions with shareholders

Convertible bond 1,443 -6,119 64,243 - / - - / - - / - 59,568 - / - 59,568

Dividend - / - - / - -141,008 - / - - / - - / - -141,008 - / - -141,008

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries 
that do not lead to a loss of control - / - - / - 781 - / - - / - - / - 781 -1,351 -570

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries 
that lead to a loss of control - / - - / - 9,317 - / - - / - - / - 9,317 - / - 9,317

Treasury shares 164 - / - 11,010 - / - - / - - / - 11,174 - / - 11,174

Non-controlling interests through 
company  acquisitions - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 3,791 3,791

December 31, 2018 30,560 9,982 485,007 - / - 3,451 -10,214 518,786 17,384 536,170
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2019

in kEUR Other reserves
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January 1, 2019 30,560 9,982 485,007 - / - 3,451 -10,214 518,786 17,384 536,170

Comprehensive income/loss

Consolidated profit/loss for the period - / - - / - -51,743 - / - - / - - / - -51,743 705 -51,037

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 901 901 - / - 901

Currency translation differences - / - - / - - / - - / - 1,622 - / - 1,622 - / - 1,622

Comprehensive income/loss - / - - / - -51,743 - / - 1,622 901 -49,220 705 -48,514

Equity transactions with shareholders

Convertible bond - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Dividend - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries 
that do not lead to a loss of control - / - - / - -2,831 - / - - / - - / - -2,831 -3,869 -6,700

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries 
that lead to a loss of control - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Treasury shares - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Non-controlling interests through 
company  acquisitions - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

June 30, 2019 30,560 9,982 430,434 - / - 5,073 -9,313 466,736 14,221 480,957
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F LOW S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period  
from January 1 to June 30, 2019

in kEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018*

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -64,756 -24,310

Profit/loss from discontinued operations 11,834 3,750

Reversal of gains on bargain purchases - / - -8,755

Gains (-) / losses (+) on deconsolidations -11,982 -3,086

Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible assets and deprecia-
tion of property, plant and equipment

76,676 27,910

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in pension obligations and other provisions 5,254 -10,589

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 308 -1,654

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of non-current financial assets -136 -17

Gains (-) / losses (+) on currency translation 286 1,232

Net financial income/expenses 18,604 6,761

Interest received 342 2,143

Interest paid -14,126 -4,881

Income taxes paid -9 1,612

Gross cash flow 22,294 -9,885

Change in working capital

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 8,110 7,931

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade receivables and other assets -3,716 -6,754

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities -55,304 -66,361

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other items of the statement of financial position -4,726 16,184

Cash flow from operating activities (net cash flow) -33,341 -58,885
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F LOW S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

continued

in kEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018*

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from the acquisition of shares  
in subsidiaries including cash acquired

- / - -55,421

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from the sale of subsidiaries less cash sold -14,168 - / -

Proceeds from sales of non-current assets  3,164 8,267

Payments for investments in non-current assets  -42,976 -39,987

Cash flow from investing activities -53,980 -87,141

Free cash flow -87,321 -146,026

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) / cash outflows for the repayment (-) 
of current financial liabilities 

3,669 -9,392

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) / cash outflows for the repayment (-) 
of non-current financial liabilities 

-23,368 8,849

Sale (+) / purchase (-) of treasury shares - / - 15,604

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from transactions with  
non-controlling interests  

-6,700 - / -

Decrease (+) / increase (-) in restricted cash -4,478 4,210

Decrease (-) / increase (+) of cash and cash equivalents shown under  
assets held for sale in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5

-1,044 -19,676

Dividend of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA - / - -141,008

Cash flow from financing activities -31,922 -141,413

Effects of currency fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 2,523 -3,727

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 284,209 636,059

Change in cash and cash equivalents -119,243 -287,441

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 167,489 344,891

Cash and cash equivalents subject to restrictions on disposal 23,200 12,369

Cash and cash equivalents shown under assets held for sale in  
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5 

-11,131 - / -

Cash and cash equivalents as per Statement of Financial Position 179,559 357,260

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of cash flows was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with the provisions of      
IFRS 5.
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S E L E C T E D  N OT E S

SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.1 Recognition and measurement principles

The recognition and measurement methods applied in the past financial year were also applied without changes 
in the preparation of the present group interim financial statements for the first half of 2019. The Group applied 
IFRS 16 for the first time in the 2019 reporting year. Irregular expenses incurred during the financial year are only 
considered or accrued in the same way they would be considered or accrued in the annual financial statements at 
December 31, 2019. 

Due to rounding, numbers presented may not add up precisely to totals provided.

1.2 Unusual matters

No significant matters occurred that would influence the assets, liabilities, equity, period profit/loss or cash 
flows and would be unusual for the business of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA by reason of their 
nature, extent or frequency. 

1.3 Changes of estimates made in prior financial statements 

No changes were made to the estimates made in prior financial statements.

1.4 Changes in the consolidation group of AURELIUS

The following changes occurred in the basis of consolidation of AURELIUS in the first half of 2019:

The Working Links Group was removed from the basis of consolidation of the AURELIUS Group in February 2019. 
In a transfer process agreed in advance with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), the social reintegration services 
 provided to the British authorities (so-called community rehabilitation companies, CRCs) were transferred to 
the service provider Seetec, with its head office in Hockley (United Kingdom). With the removal of Working 
Links from its basis of consolidation, AURELIUS has now withdrawn completely from the business of outsourc-
ing services for public-sector authorities in Great Britain. The further developments in this market will be 
largely determined by the budgetary parameters. The budgetary constraints of the government authorities 
had already led to a substantial consolidation of this sector in the past years.

In April 2019, AURELIUS sold its subsidiary Granovit, with its head office in Lucens (Switzerland), to the existing 
management team headed up by CEO Andreas Fischer in the form of a management buy-out. The company pro-
duces pre-mix and mixed feed for poultry, swine, beef and dairy cattle for the Swiss market at three production 
facilities. The product portfolio is rounded out by specialty feed for pets, horses, zoo animals and medicated feed.
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S E L E C T E D  N OT E S

2. Selected notes to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

2.1 Revenues

in kEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018

Revenues from sales of goods 1,593,086 1,407,830

Revenues from sales of services 90,782 84,643

Total continued operations 1,683,868 1,492,473

Discontinued operations 206,561 382,386

Total revenues 1,890,429 1,874,859

in kEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018

Germany 273,312 234,783

EU 1,227,615 1,153,364

Rest of Europe, not EU 93,544 68,094

Third countries 89,397 36,232

Total continued operations 1,683,868 1,492,473

Discontinued operations 206,561 382,386

Total revenues 1,890,429 1,874,859

2.2 Other income

in kEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018

Income from gains on bargain purchases - / - 8,755

Income from deconsolidations 7,941 602

Income from the reversal of provisions 3,289 141

Income from the derecognition of liabilities 695 299

Income from charging of costs to third parties 1,383 11,607

Income from exchange rate changes 1,107 2,015

Internal production capitalized 2,140 1,858

Other miscellaneous income 13,642 10,870

Total continued operations 30,197 36,147

Discontinued operations 13,649 14,916

Total other income 43,846 51,063
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S E L E C T E D  N OT E S

2.3 Other expenses

in kEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2019 1/1 - 6/30/2018

Buildings and machinery 31,631 57,480

Marketing expenses and commissions 59,982 46,722

Administration 38,779 35,370

Advisory services 34,098 27,646

Freight and transport costs 67,858 55,597

Office expenses 22,934 22,311

Expenses of exchange rate changes 1,393 3,249

Personnel leasing 12,014 17,776

Other miscellaneous expenses 26,810 8,310

Total continued operations 295,499 274,461

Discontinued operations 48,747 70,388

Total other expenses 344,246 344,849
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S E L E C T E D  N OT E S

3. Assets analysis

3.1 Intangible Assets

in kEUR
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Acquisition or production cost 
Balance at January 1, 2018 91,446 20,642 143,929 10,318 266,334
Discontinued operations -722 - / - -9,164 -10,118 -20,004
Continued operations 90,724 20,642 134,765 200 246,332
Changes in the consolidation group 1,128 25,830 32,391 - / - 59,349
Acquisitions 13,630 - / - 5,828 187 19,645
Disposals -3,527 - / - -277 -125 -3,928
Reclassifications 49 - / - 638 -113 573
Currency translation differences -543 - / - -680 - / - -1,224
Balance at December 31, 2018 101,461 46,472 172,665 149 320,746
Discontinued operations -4,267 -3,825 -13,645 - / - -21,736
Continued operations 97,194 42,647 159,020 149 299,010
Changes in the consolidation group -23 -393 607 -2 189
Acquisitions 2,173 - / - 5,051 218 7,442
Disposals -44 -4 -411 -290 -749
Reclassifications 25 - / - - / - -25 - / -
Currency translation differences -180 - / - -215 - / - -395
Balance at June 30, 2019 99,145 42,250 164,051 50 305,495

Amortization and impairments
Balance at January 1, 2018 -21,500 -60 -51,449 -2,255 -75,264
Discontinued operations 22 - / - 2,507 2,253 4,781
Continued operations -21,478 -60 -48,942 -2 -70,482
Acquisitions -10,769 - / - -17,774 - / - -28,544
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals 1,935 - / - 23 - / - 1,958
Reversals of impairments - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Reclassifications 309 - / - -378 - / - -69
Currency translation differences 217 - / - 454 - / - 671
Balance at December 31, 2018 -29,787 -60 -66,617 -2 -96,466
Discontinued operations 157 - / - 2,652 - / - 2,809
Continued operations -29,630 -60 -63,965 -2 -93,657
Acquisitions -4,094 - / - -9,734 - / - -13,828
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals 6 - / - 68 - / - 74
Reclassifications - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Currency translation differences 102 - / - 152 - / - 254
Balance at June 30, 2019 -33,595 -60 -73,479 -2 -107,135

Carrying amount at December 31, 2018 71,674 46,412 106,048 147 224,281

Carrying amount at June 30, 2019 65,550 42,190 90,572 48 198,361
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3.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

in kEUR
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Acquisition or production cost 
Balance at January 1, 2018 34,824 118,255 132,249 63,811 17,874 367,013
Discontinued operations -2,882 -5,246 -15,673 -2,988 -523 -27,312
Continued operations 31,942 113,009 116,576 60,823 17,351 339,701
Changes in the consolidation group 9,017 30,367 33,449 7,289 2,925 83,047
Acquisitions 50 13,858 8,073 19,036 27,562 68,579
Disposals -5,109 -12,543 -20,087 -3,451 -1,616 -42,806
Reclassifications 1,730 116 7,984 2,384 -11,792 422
Currency translation differences -51 -437 -672 -285 -215 -1,660
Balance at December 31, 2018 37,579 144,370 145,323 85,796 34,215 447,283
Discontinued operations -16,310 -29,213 -58,544 -926 -6,560 -111,553
Continued operations 21,269 115,157 86,779 84,870 27,655 335,730
Changes in the consolidation group - / - -17,660 -3,041 -1,229 -62 -21,992
Acquisitions 1,633 568,213 10,692 26,946 12,838 620,322
Disposals -161 -6,474 -2,198 -1,987 -1,449 -12,269
Reclassifications 19 436 2,706 586 -3,747 - / -
Currency translation differences 7 -1,494 -173 -105 -112 -1,877
Balance at June 30, 2019 22,766 658,178 94,765 109,081 35,123 919,913

Amortization and impairments
Balance at January 1, 2018 -1,019 -20,174 -32,503 -18,476 -291 -72,463
Discontinued operations 11 60 362 39 - / - 472
Continued operations -1,008 -20,114 -32,141 -18,437 -291 -71,991
Acquisitions -45 -8,026 -23,973 -14,875 - / - -46,919
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals - / - 8,636 19,655 1,674 - / - 29,965
Reversals of impairments - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Reclassifications -886 -1,323 395 -446 - / - -2,260
Currency translation differences - / - 28 25 96 1 150

Balance at December 31, 2018 -1,939 -20,799 -36,039 -31,988 -290 -91,055

Discontinued operations 3 508 7,383 500 - / - 8,394
Continued operations -1,936 -20,291 -28,656 -31,488 -290 -82,661
Changes in the consolidation group - / - 473 13 844 - / - 1,331
Acquisitions -137 -42,803 -9,477 -10,431 - / - -62,848
Impairment (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals - / - 22 3,045 1,440 - / - 4,507
Reversals of impairments - / - - / - 64 1 - / - 65
Reclassifications -3 -18 - / - 21 - / - - / -
Currency translation differences - / - 195 200 86 - / - 481

Balance at June 30, 2019 -2,076 -62,422 -34,811 -39,527 -290 -139,126

Carrying amount at December 31, 2018 35,640 123,571 109,284 53,808 33,925 356,228
Carrying amount at June 30, 2019 20,690 595,755 59,954 69,554 34,833 780,787
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3.3 Financial assets 

3.3.1 Other investments
The total amount of EUR 5,022 thousand (December 31, 2018: EUR 6,360 thousand) mainly includes an equity in-
vestment of the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 5,015 thousand (December 31, 2018: EUR 5,015 thou-
sand). Furthermore this item includes an investment of B+P Gerüstbau in the amount of EUR five thousand (De-
cember 31, 2018: EUR 5 thousand).

3.3.2 Other long-term-loans
The total amount of EUR 6,798 thousand (December 31, 2018: EUR 3,843 thousand) mainly consists of long-term 
loans at Silvan in the amount of EUR 2,510 thousand (December 31, 2018: EUR 2,494 thousand) and at MEZ in the 
amount of EUR 1,338 thousand (December 31, 2018: EUR 1,338 thousand).

4.  Segment revenues, EBITDA and EBIT for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2019

in kEUR Services & 
Solutions

Industrial 
Production

Retail & 
Consumer 

Products

Other AURELIUS 
Group

Revenues 86,326 250,659 1,342,427 4,456 1,683,868

Discontinued Operations 7,291 199,270 - / - - / - 206,561

EBITDA 10,081 4,101 26,617 -10,275 30,524

Discontinued Operations 10,265 12,989 - / - - / - 23,254

EBIT -1,001 -7,027 -26,817 -11,307 -46,152

Discontinued Operations 9,839 3,631 - / - - / - 13,470

5. Significant contingent liabilities, guarantees and legal disputes

The following significant guarantees and contingent liabilities were in effect at the reporting date of June 30, 
2019: 

Effective July 31, 2014, AURELIUS sold its investment in Framochem Kft. in Hungary to VanDeMark Chemical Inc. 
through Isochem SAS. The purchaser demanded joint and several liabilities on the part of AURELIUS Equity Oppor-
tunities SE & Co. KGaA for guarantees and indemnification rights with respect to the existence of the seller and 
of the target, as well as the ownership of the disposed shares and the target’s business premises in Hungary. 
The guarantees and/or indemnification only cover claims that are asserted within five years after the closing. 
The guarantee is limited to an amount of EUR 9,375 thousand. The assertion of a full claim under this guarantee 
continues to be regarded as very unlikely by the Company.

In connection with the sale of SECOP that was closed in late July 2017, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA assumed joint and several liability for certain obligations of the seller related to possible warranty claims of 
the buyer, possible claims of the buyer under the tax indemnification, possible claims of the buyer related to any 
refund claims under the financial purchase price determination mechanism, and possible claims related to 
 indemnification of certain matters. The joint liability is limited to regular warranty claims and to an amount of 
roughly EUR 9,5 million with respect to the indemnification for certain matters. With respect to time, the joint 
 liability for possible claims of the buyer based on the breach of regular warranties and possible claims of the 
buyer with respect to any refund claims under the financial purchase price determination mechanism is limited 
to claims asserted within 18 months of the closing date. The joint liability for claims under the tax indemnifica-
tion is subject to a limitation period of either six months after the legally binding assessment or after expiration 
of the assessment period.
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In connection with the sale of Getronics that was closed in early July 2017, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA was required to assume guarantee obligations for certain obligations of the seller related to possible war-
ranty claims of the buyer, possible claims of the buyer under the tax indemnification, possible claims of the buyer 
with respect to any refund claims due to impermissible transfers, possible claims under the indemnification for 
certain matters, and possible claims due to the breach of post-contractual obligations. The joint liability is limited 
to approximately EUR 25 million for regular warranty claims. With respect to time, the guarantee obligation 
 related to impermissible transfers is limited to claims asserted within six months after the closing date, and the 
joint liability for possible warranty claims of the buyer that do not relate to fundamental warranties is limited 
to claims asserted within 18 months after the closing date. All other claims to which the guarantee obligation 
pertains are subject to a limitation period of five years after the closing date.

Through Studienkreis Holding GmbH, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA sold the Studienkreis Group 
effective December 20, 2017. In this connection, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA made an indepen-
dent guarantee undertaking in the purchase agreement to indemnify any payment obligations of the seller aris-
ing from or in relation to the purchase agreement. The guarantee undertaking is limited to a maximum amount 
of EUR 5,386 thousand. Payment obligations of the seller could arise particularly from claims of the buyer for 
breaches of warranty or from the tax indemnification. Guarantee claims of the buyer are time-barred after 
36 months (guarantee pertaining to the existence of target companies, ownership of shares, absence of company 
agreements) or 18 months (other guarantees) after the closing date. Claims of the buyer under the tax indemnifi-
cation are time-barred after six months after the assessment or after expiration of the tax assessment periods.

Effective November 26, 2018, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired the Mannheim-based VAG 
from the U.S. Rexnord Group through its indirect subsidiary AURELIUS Alpha Invest DS GmbH. AURELIUS Equity 
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA assumed a financing obligation vis-à-vis the Rexnord Group, under which it under-
took to endow AURELIUS Alpha Invest DS GmbH with sufficient capital to pay the purchase price and satisfy other 
precisely defined obligations.

Legal disputes
With respect to the two companies Old BCA Ltd. and Book Club Trading Ltd., AURELIUS is exposed to the risk of 
continuing liability for pension obligations based on mistakes made during the implementation of the pension 
fund in the 1990s. The amount varies and could possibly reach an amount in the middle single-digit millions. Rec-
tification proceedings are currently being carried out by the companies before a British court through which the 
past mistakes should be rectified. AURELIUS considers the prospects for success to be good overall.

A claim for payment of a mid-six-figure amount is being asserted against a former holding company that is cur-
rently in liquidation and a direct subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA by the insolvency 
administrator of the former investment that was sold more than five years ago and has meanwhile become insol-
vent, by way of a partial claim. The maximum risk is in the mid-single-digit millions. The allegation stated in the 
claim reads that the distribution of a dividend in 2010 was an inadmissible, prohibited repayment of share capital. 
The liquidator of the former holding company assumes that it will be possible to successfully defend against the 
suit based on factual and legal grounds. 

A claim for payment of an amount in the low-double digit millions is being asserted against AURELIUS Equity 
 Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and three additional defendants by the insolvency administrator of a former com-
pany of the Getronics Group as joint and several debtors. The defendants unanimously assume that it will be 
possible to successfully defend against the suit based on numerous factual and legal grounds.

The insolvency administrator of ACC Compressors S.p.A. is demanding payment of damages from two former 
Group companies for allegedly anti-competitive behavior. The claim is for an amount in the low double-digit 
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 millions. The claim was broadened to include AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co KGaA in early 2018. In addi-
tion, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co KGaA, among others, may have an indemnification obligation under 
the company purchase agreement by which the two aforementioned companies were sold in 2018. Currently, 
AURELIUS considers the prospects for success to be good overall.

In connection with its general business activities, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA was otherwise a 
party to various legal disputes as of the reporting date, but none of them is to be considered material in terms of 
the risks or amounts involved. As in the previous year, therefore, no provisions for other legal disputes were recog-
nized in 2019.

6. Significant events after the reporting date 

AURELIUS announced the sale of its subsidiary SOLIDUS to private equity funds advised by Centerbridge Partner 
L.P. at the end of June. SOLIDUS is the leading European producer of sustainable packaging solutions made from 
solid board on the basis of recycled paper for food, beverages and gardening products, as well as consumer goods 
and industrial applications. The transaction is still pending, subject to the approval of the competent anti-trust 
authorities and the conclusion of consultations with the Central Works Council of SOLIDUS in the Netherlands. It 
is expected to close in the third quarter of 2019.

On August 5, 2019 AURELIUS announced the acquisition of the industry leading end-to-end commercial fleet man-
agement operator in the UK, BT Fleet Solutions from BT Group Plc. Both parties have agreed not to disclose the 
purchase price and the transaction is due to complete in H2 2019. Headquartered in Solihull, BT Fleet Solutions 
offers a comprehensive suite of fleet management services across all stages of the vehicle life cycle, through its 
network of 65 in-house garages, 500 partner facilities and 50+ mobile technicians. Established in 2002, BT Fleet 
Solutions employs around 950 staff around the UK, and manages more than 80,000 vehicles for over 26 blue chip 
customers across diversified industries. 
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